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ASHI seeks to help reduce extreme poverty through group money lending. Specifically, it hopes to:

1. Increase incomes of the poor by financing self-employment activities

2. Mobilize savings among the poor for emergency purposes

3. Reduce the dependence of the poor on usurious moneylenders

4. Help reduce rural-urban migration through generating local community growth

5. Promote the values education and responsible parenthood amongst ASHI members and the virtues of unity, 

 discipline, hardwork and perseverance.

6. Help establish other Grameen replicating organizations and give assistance to them through training

There are three major reasons that ensure the success of ASHI  in the Philippines.
1. ASHI believes that through Micro-credit the face of poverty in the Philippines can be changed to allow all   
 families to enjoy economic  security.
2.  ASHI accepts the challenge of bringing dignity to the lives of the poorest women, through maintaining 
 solidarity in their group.
3. Finally ASHI is committed in maintaining the approach of microfinance, incorporating the Total Human   

 Development  among  clients and staff.

 The beneficiaries of ASHI are women from depresses and marginal areas. Following the criteria set in 
loan disbursements, each member of the five women-groups can avail the general loans at the same time.
 The loans are particularly used to finance livelihood activities such as manufacturing, bamboo set making, 
fishing, sewing and dressmaking, poultry and swine raising, variety stores, farming anf petty trading of fruits and 
vegetables, dried and fresh fish, slippers and many others. These enterprises help them generate income to 
support their families and eventually pay their loans.

 ASHI extends general loans (strictly for livelihood) to members with an initial amount of P5,000.00. 
Members can continuously avail bigger loans based on their credit rating and growth of their business.
 Aside from the general loan, incentive loans namely educational loan, house repair loan, and market day 
loan can be availed by deserving members.
 Also built-in the ASHI  system in the group fund savings which can be accesses by members in any of 
their personal needs as approved by the group. Voluntary savings such as Personal Savings, Children’s Savings 
Program and Damayan are also set-up to encouraged members to further save for their future.

Objectives

Rationale

The Beneficiaries and their Activities

Services to Members



  About 80 percent of the World population suffers 

from extreme poverty. In the Philipines, while poverty incidence 

has seen a reduction in recent years, the number of poor people 

has remained considerable, with more than the third of the 78 

million Filipinos living below poverty line.

  

  With the broad vision of helping alleviate poverty in 

the country. Ahon Sa Hirap, Inc. (ASHI) was established. Ahon 

Sa Hirap which means “to rise above poverty”.

  ASHI uses the Grameen Bank approach (GBA) 

founded by Prof. Muhammad Yunus of the Economics 

Department of Chittagong University, Bangladesh. Through this 

approach, ASHI provides the poorest women direct access to 

non-collaterized loan funds to help them increase their income 

and employment opportunities without passing through the 

rigid requirements of the traditional lending agency like the 

banks.

  ASHI started in January 1989 as an action-research 

project led by  the professor of the University of the Philippines 

Los Baños (UPLB). Initial funding came from Asia Pacific 

Development Center (APDC) based in Malaysia.

  Two years after its inception, ASHI was registered 

under Security and Exchange Commission as a non-stock, 

non-profit, non-governmental organization (NGO). NGO status 

has allowed ASHI to enter into contract the loan arrangements, 

as well as to receive grants and donations from various local and 

international agencies.

  ASHI faced a major crisis in 1994 with 62% of its members in default. Rather than closing. ASHI Board appointed 

its President, Mila Mercado-Bunker, as the Executive Trustee to take up the challenge of reconstructing the program. CASHPOR 

and Grameen Trust provided technical assistance in the rehabilitation and staff training. By 1995, repayment rates had risen above 

97% allowing ASHI to resume vigorous membership expansion in 1998.

An overview of our History
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2010 marked the 21st year since the social reaseach project in 
1989 and 19 years being a Microfinance NGO. What is new 
in 2010?

Ahon sa Hirap (ASHI) have been living up to its name “Rise 
above Poverty”, inspired by getting the poor out of the bondage 
of vulnerability, ASHI have delivered many innovations to 
“effectively translate its mission into practice”.

ASHI has always been anchored on its social mission, and we 
pursued various initiatives to monitor our social performance 
even before SPM became a buzzword in microfinance. We 
had always declared that our mission is “reaching the poorest” 
takes precedence over watching our financial bottom line. 
We are probably the only MFI in the Phils. that from the 
beginning never anchored its performance on numbers. In the 
1990s, when many MFIs became focused on their financial 
performance along with the global drive for microfinance 
to be mainstreamed in the formal financial systems, ASHI 

remained faithful to its social mission.  We took steps to sustain our operations even as we looked into how to improve the 
lives of our clients.  We built our network guided by the principle of counting costs while serving the poorest, consistent with 
our dictum “significance is impact.”

We want to be to be agent of change in the  lives of our women-members. We believe that credit alone will not bring this 
change but rather through solidarity with one another living out the foundation of unity, hardwork discipline, patience and 
courage will make it happen. We want the change to focus on improving economic, education and spiritual well-being in 
the strength and solidarity of groups and center.

2009 ended with majority of members still in deep distress, some still in evacuation centers. The challenges faced by our 
members  on rebuilding home, recovery of business and relief in personal trauma of the three major typhoons Ondoy, 
Pepeng and Santi in September 2009 affecting 4,000 members with 28m portfolio. APRROOT program was born that has 
three components: 

Relief, •	 Initial relief in the provision of the basic necessities of food, clothing, utensils and school supplies was   
 given to more than 4,000 effected families living in temporary locations.

Recovery, •	 To assist the members in recovering their business loans repayment were suspended for a period of up   
 to 4 weeks  plus for those with extreme loss a recovery loan of 3,000 pesos was disbursed to facilitate their return   
 to doing business.

Rebuild,•	  An ongoing program in which land away from danger zones has been acquired in cooperation with  
 Local Government, and construction of more than seventy housing units have been constructed.

PRESIDENTS  VIEW 
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You will read in the annual report, How ASHI  discovered new ways  of bringing recovery of portfolio and introducing new 
tool for development.  New and innovative ways of sustaining “ solidarity “ groups as key to bring about social, economic and 
spiritual empowerment.  How other interventions Housng, Agriculture have emerged in response to holistic development. 
We conclude by the following lessons learned in doing poverty alleviation through the intervention of microfinance.

Contextualized Approaches                                                                    
Members needs have to be addressed as in the Maslow theory of hierarchy of needs. While at entry their needs are the 
basic, housing, food etc., with the retention rate of 95% many members needs go beyond the basic needs as. The solidarity 
that addresses their social need must go beyond a simple group training with loaning policies and responsibility, to include 
new concept of a solidarity formation seminar. Even beyond both basic and social needs are intellectual, self realization and 
leadership needs which are also  developed as they continue to stay in ASHI. Older women, often widowed and without 
support are also marginalized and have needs beyond the mere basic, they may not need finance but often are needing social 
empowerment. 

Competence  
In product innovation such as Housing and Agriculture, staff competencies need to be developed in line with our newly 
developed technology and best practices. ASHI have innovated over the past three years new lending, insuranceand saving 
products to address the need of agriculture, members living in typhoon prone and danger zones. For such innovation it 
becomes important to anticiapte the risks involved in the  development of an appropriate methodology. Then specific staff 
competencies need to be carefully designed considering the target group as technnical expertise blended with passion and 
experience in credit discipline brings about our success.
                                                                                                          
Culture of the Organization
Now considered as mature organization, ASHI is no longer at a pioneering stage, the staff and Organizational Culture are 
becoming competitive requiring a new dimension in the organizations Management. In 2010, many challenges in Human 
Resource Management brought about balancing personal needs and professionalism without losing the spirit of service and 
passion, CALL BEYOND DUTY, is now an emerging challenge. A new Management System is to be srt in place allowing 
for discovering the true essence of a life-work balance for all staff. 

              

          MILA MERCADO-BUNKER
                President
                          Ahon Sa Hirap, Inc.
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What makes ASHI different? 
Ahon Sa Hirap Inc. (ASHI) has the distinction of being 
the first replicator of the Grameen Bank approach to credit 
for the bottom poor in the Philippines. ASHI expresses 
its vision that its poor members will be empowered to rise 
above poverty through their unity, discipline, hard work and 
perseverance. The Solidarity Group Concept has relevance  
to in the Filipino culture of  ‘Pakikisama’ , ‘Pakikipag-Kapwa’  
‘Pananagutan’ therefore ASHI remained on the cutting edge 
in the last 21 years (1989-2010). ASHI’s leadership has 
taken on the challenge to make the organization an agent 
of change among the bottom poor women by strengthening 
their economic life and promoting spiritual and educational 
well-being. Moreover, with its outstanding achievements 
over the years, ASHI has become the role model of credit 
delivery to the poor in the country.

Reputation in the Industry
ASHI is an established, well-known NGO with a good 
reputation in the microfinance industry.  Finding  a niche 
in providing microfinance services to the poor residing in 
the provinces of Rizal, Laguna and Antique, ASHI has an 
established brand and a loyal customer base. ASHI operates 
with a culture of social responsibility and integrity evident 
among both staff and members.

The Board of Directors and Management of ASHI give high 
attention to the current problem of  delinquency and trend 
of multiple borrowing. ASHI adheres to single membership 
policy and strongly implements open-transaction in its 
collection process, which has been an effective mechanism 
for ASHI in getting feedback from clients. The open culture 
of giving and receiving feedback has helped in meeting the 
needs of  members and at the same time strengthening  the 
work ethics among its staff. ASHI’s strongest points lie in the 
area of preventing over-indebtedness, ethical staff behavior as 
ASHI seriously implements its policy on single membership 
and maintains

high standards of ethics both in practice and as expressed 
in the core values they follow. These standards permeate 
through its transparency and collections practices that give 
high regard to treating clients with dignity and respect.’   
MCPI 2010 CLIENT PROTECTION 
ASSESSEMENT Report 

Microfinance with a Social Conscience 
ASHI remains within the basic belief that the social goals by 
which the Microfinance had been set for should come first 
over profitability.         
                                                                
1. Quality of Outreach  - “no to multiple membership” ,many 
loans from different  institutions will not help the poor 
progress out of poverty. A poor woman will not be able to 
live a quality of life with multiple loans, all her hard work 
and income is used only to pay all her obligations, 
sacrificing her and her household’s well-being and sanity 
often resulting in disappearances and high rates of 
migration.

2. Integral Human Development - “Credit with a Human 
Face’.  Social Performance Management and Progress out 
Poverty will becomes the management tool in ensuring 
we have no mission drift. 100% collection rate, while very 
positive is not the key to success, our reason for being is to 
see all members coping with all the risks in their lives, as 
empowered leaders in their community and providing an 
avenue to by which the values of  integrity and dignity are 
lived out.

3. “Success is Sustainability and Significance is Impact” - this 
motto has been drawn to remind Management and Staff of 
the importance recovery of costs in order to continue to 
maintain relevance in bringing the members “RISE ABOVE 
POVERTY”.  Our institutional SUCCESS and wealth is of 
no use if we have no SIGNIFICANCE in the lives of our 
members.
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  When she was 15 years old, Adora 
developed a love for sewing learning the art  from her 
grandmother, to support her family she  left her province of 
Antique at the age of 17 to find work in a sewing factory in  
Bulacan in Central Luzon. Determined to develop herself, 
she returned home to antique and took work as a cutter sewer 
while pursuing a Bachelor of Science degree in Industrial 
Technology. Soon Adora  began  accepting sewing jobs from 
her own customers. This was a most difficult time for Adora, 
as she was simultaneously managing her studies, working at 
the shop, and finishing job orders at home.  She was also the 
sole breadwinner of her family. 

  Adora  joined ASHI in 2003, and used her first ASHI loan of 
Php 2,000 to raise pigs in order to sustain the needs of the family and to finish 
her studies. Graduating in in 2004, Adora received the “Most Proficient in 
Dressmaking.” Award, after graduation, she rented space for her own shop which 
she named CSN Dress Shop,   located in front of the Antique National School, 
one of the largest schools in the province,  The school immediately entered into 
a contract with Adora to provide uniforms for the teachers.  This contract along 
with many walk-in customers allowed her to acces higher loans purchase more 
equipment and add staff.

 By Joining  INSOL Development Foundation, Inc. in 2005 availed of the  management training seminars INSOL 
provides for micro-entrepreneurs. This along with passing TESDA,s, NCII Level in dress-making gave Adora more 
confidence in running her business. Now with  3 high speed sewing machines and a portable edge r Adora has  hired 5 
employees,  often for bulk orders, she adds extra staff.  As she became more known for the quality of her work,  Adora was 
asked to be the technical instructor for a dress-making course at St. Anthony’s College Technical Training Program,(SAC) 
and upon the invitation of the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI), became a resource person for Basic Training in 
Dressmaking and Embroidery.  In her shop, she coaches the students of SAC TTP in their on-the-job training stint.

 Working, at the an interisland bus booking station (RoRo)  in Metro Manila , Adora’s husband  comes home only 
2 days in a month. Adora  ably manages her time between being a Mother to their 3-year old daughter, Owner/Manager 
of her dress shop, Instructor, and sometimes Resource Speaker.  She shows true independence as running her business by 
herself and making her own decisions.  Now having completed a bachelor’s degree, despite poverty, working and studying at 
the same time, she is determined to succeed. Not only has she learned her craft well, attending to details and the quality of 
her work, with a definite social conscience she has also impartsher knowledge to students and the larger community.

 

SUCCESS STORIES

SUCCESS STORIES  
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Adora Fajiculay
Antique Area
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ASHI VISION
We are a community of servant leaders who pioneered and continue to innovate the principles 
of Grameen Banking in the Philippines, and to be in solidarity with the marginalized women 
and their families for poverty alleviation, and active participation in social development.

ASHI MISSION
“Through microfinance applying  the Grameen Approach to credit delivery, we commit and 
dedicate ourselves to:

Inspire the marginalized women and their families to discover their God-given dignity and 
enabling them to rise above all forms of poverty and respond to social and environmental 
concerns.

Create an environment that enhances empowerment of women and their families

Deliver excellent quality and professional service with a team spirit.

Integrate value formation, living out the ASHI core values of discipline, patience, industry, 
courage and unity.

Share with other anti-poverty institution and organization our expertise grounded on 
experience”.
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Mainstreaming Social Performance
2010 marked institutionalizing Social Performance  
Management principles by training Branch Managers and 
Area Managers and integrating these  within our  trimestral 
evaluation and planning. We  drew up uniform definitions 
of indicators, using the generally accepted dimensions 
introduced by the Social Performance Taskforce. All ASHI 
internal Department’ goals and objectives were aligned in 
ASHI’s key result areas in order to monitor social 
performance.

“SPM for PPI” data base - integrated to the mainstreaming 
of social performance, a database was developed as  ASHI 
adapted  the use of the Progress out of Poverty Index (PPI),  

1. As a targeting tool in line with our  goal of  “Outreach to  
 the Poorest” . 
2. PPI will also be used to measure progress of a member  
 out of poverty over time.
3. ASHI will use PPI to measure progress out poverty for  
 exiting clients. 

The PPI tool allows us to compare the poverty syatus of 
ASHI members with the National Poverty incidence thus 
we can assess the impact of our programs.

The data base developed will also report the progress out of 
poverty using PPI score card, but also other data in 
reporting achievement of social goals such as development 
in education, businesses.  It can also generate reports on 
housing, utilities and members demographics.
 
Grameen Operation
Grameen Operations took on two major reforms during the 
2010 year, these were aimed at the fast growing problem of 
over indebtedness among the microfinance clients and the 
facilitation of a faster recovery from disaster for the future; 
ASHI reviewed the New Grameen Generalized System of 
Grameen bank and addressed the issue of incomplete groups 
increasing as members are joining other MFI’s, increasing 
their number of loans, falling into financial problems and 
creating tensions within their groups. 

ASHI Grameen Generalized System (ASHI GGS) was 
rolled out for satisfaction of Members, Efficiency and 
Workload Reduction of the Development Officer (D.O.) 
or SEW. 

1. The biggest bottleneck in the operation of ASHI  was 
on LOAN Proposal Process and Approval, to understand 
the problem a Business Mapping Workshop was undertaken 
evaluating the process and address the bottle neck. This  
revealed that the bulk of information being collected was 
not used, and the collection of data  took so much time for 
the D.O. to complete, causing in delay of loan releases, this 
resulted in the dissatisfaction and exit of many members. 
A Staff workload evaluation also showed the 80% of the 
productive  time of a D.O. was being  consumed  in loan 
proposal processing, therefore they were neglecting much 
needed group formation and loan utilization check. A user 
friendly easily understood loan proposal form was developed 
with a targeted  release of the new loan one week after last 
payment. Reducing the amount of information from six pages 
to two increased the efficiency of the staff during interview. 
and  Only data essential for the proposed loan and its use 
along  with the member’s credit rating and amortization 
schedule was retained.  

2. The introduction of the 10 question PPI score card replaced 
the previous Means Test which require even the calculation 
of the asset  devaluation as a measure of value was removed 
thus further reducing the workload.

3. The Recovery loan provided a flexible solution for members 
with financial problems, reducing many group conflicts and 
increasing member retention.

Addressing Incomplete Groups
A faster and more  efficient way of retraining incomplete 
groups  was drawn in response to increasing number of 
inactive members, and those who exited when their loan was 
delayed. The staff caught uo in loan processing, struggled to 
find the time to find and train the replacement members, 
thus more exits because of the long waiting period for their 
groups to be trained. A new  shorter  training called “ The 
SOLIDARITY FORMATION SEMINAR” (SFS) was 
introduced. 
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Housing
With the relief and recovery component of APRROOT 
coming to an end, the rebuilding phase is being introduced, 
beginning with a focus the Filipino culture valed called 
“Bayanihan“. Under this system the center pulled together 
the existing skills in carpentry and construction under the 
supervision of ASHI construction management team. The 
aim is to develop sense of owernership and lessen labor cost.

Hiring of labor was taken from within the membership of 
Laguna North East  branch. The labor will be trained in 
necessary skills. The construction management team has 
already been hired to manage the rebuilding at a site Brgy. 
Tawiran, Pangil, Laguna.

Institutional Endorsement of Smart Campaign
Two ASHI Board Members together with the President and 
Head of the members Desk attended a two-day  conference on 
Client Protection Principles (CPP)Led by Smart Campaign 
and sponsored by MCPI. Following the conference is ASHI’s 
written endorsement of the smart campaign. To mainstream 
the CPP ASHI conducted one-day CPP review with all 
managers, department using the Report Client Protection 
Assessment for ASHI by MCPI.

Networking and Advocacy
ASHI is an active member of MCPI, holding trusteeship for 
3 years. The ASHI President has been reelected chair for a 
second term of on year. 2010 activities for MCPI includes, 
Certification training in CPP, Developing Guidelines for 
SPM, and Micro-insurance policy regulation discussion.

In the province of Antique where we have 5 Branches  the 
confidence of the other Non government organizations 
resulted in, the election of ASHI as vice-chair for Antique 
Federation of NGOs(AFON).  here  ASHI serves as 
resource for orientation on Social Performance Management, 
and CPP.  as well as other programs on avoidance of over-
indebtedness in the province. ASHI participated in the 
celebration of womens’ month in Antique and in Municipal 
Planning and is a selected member of Provincial Planning 
representing the NGOs. On the international forum, ASHI 
is an active member of social performance taskforce.

The curriculum was drafted through workshops with Member 
Leadership in the branches, areas, Training Department 
and the Quality Membership Team and other Department 
Heads. The new system allows for  the training of a  maximum 
of 4 groups per center and lasts only one day.  In order to 
encourage centers to complete membership of groups release 
to incomplete groups is now approved provided they have 
action plan for SFS.

Product Development
Agriculture
Agricultural micro financing is not an entirely new product 
line for ASHI, as we has been extending loans for farm 
inputs, as incentive to existing members with good credit 
history. Recognizing that farmers need more than just micro 
credit, ASHI went into product development in December 
2010 to evolve a more appropriate range of services for small 
farmers. Anchored on micro credit, ASHI is set to test in 
2011 an agriculture microfinance product called “AGAP” 
- that covers a broader range of services to include micro 
savings and insurance, technical assistance on improved 
farming technologies, and networking support involving 
other key players in the value chain such as rice milers, buyers, 
and farm input suppliers. ASHI, thus, will test the product 
design and evaluate  the internal organisational set-up and 
external partnership linkages that need to be put in place for 
an effective support structure for small farmers.

Social Protection - Micro-insurance
ASHI in response to the new regulation of the National 
Credit Council modified the Damayan Program to use 
partnership model in doing social protection of members. 
2010 marked the first year of partnership with Micro-
ensure, a micro insurance intermediary in partnership with 
GrepaLife a commercial insurance company. Micro-ensure 
developed affordable micro insurance products on burial 
and life benefits. The self-administered damayan program 
for those beyond the age of 65 is still under the ASHI’s 
social program for senior citizen. The reason for this is that 
Philippines insurance policy excludes senior citizens from 
any social protection benefits.
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ASHI is active in the provinces of Southern Part of 
Luzon particularly in Rizal, Laguna and South Merto 
Manila and in the province of Antique in Panay
Island. 

ASHI have steadily expanded from 11 branches  to 
21 branches with increasing number of membership 
from 2003 to 2010.

ASHI is serving 100% poorest of the poor women 
with non collateralized loan capital for their income 
generating activities. 

 ANTIQUE AREA

1   Antique Northwest Branch - Pandan
2   Antique North Branch -  Culasi 
3   Antique Central Branch - Bugasong 
4   Antique Southeast Branch - Sibalom 
5   Antique South Branch - San Jose
6   Antique Southwest Branch - Hamtic

LAGUNA  AREA

1   Laguna East Branch - Siniloan
2   Laguna Northeast Branch - Pangil 
3   Laguna Central Branch - Sta. Cruz 
4   Laguna South Branch - Los Baños 
5   Laguna West Branch - Bucal

RIZAL  AREA

1   Rizal West Branch - Antipolo 
2   Rizal East Branch - Tanay 
3   Rizal Central Branch - Morong 
4   Rizal Southwest Branch - Binangonan 
5   Rizal South Branch - Talim
6   Rizal Metro East Branch - Taytay

SOUTH METRO AREA

1   Metro Bacoor Branch - Bacoor
2   Metro South Branch - Muntinlupa 
3   Metro San Pedro Branch - San Pedro
4   Metro Southwest Branch - Cabuyao 
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OBJECTIVES AND KEY RESULT  
ASHI, being an active member of the Social Performance Taskforce and a strong advocate for Social Performance  
Management, has become effective “in the translation of  Mission into Practice following  social goals”.  ASHI adopted 
the three dimensions of social performance as the key results for the  three year plan 2008-2010and would like to see 
improvement in three dimensions: Outreach, Sustainability and Corporate Social Responsibility.  Mix Market, a global 
reporting network, has been  encouraging  MFIs to report social and financial data for the past three years. Annual recognition 
awards were set  in place to motivate MFIs to report. In 2010, ASHI was awarded silver category for reporting the 2009 data 
for social and financial performance.

Result 1: Outreach to the Poorest and excluded in South Metro Manila, Laguna and Antique
  1. Expand ASHI Outreach from 18567 to 50,000 bottom 50% women and their families in 2015, 
  2. Maintain  healthy  with Portfolio at Risk  to at max 2%
  3. Maintain Retention Rate at 98%.
  4. Saturate and penetrate in all current covered areas
  5. Priority expansion to  hard reach and  agricultural areas

Result 2: Focuses of Improved Social Performance Management, focusing on ADAPTATION OF  PRODUCTS 
AND SERVICES through product innovation and evaluation of these services through client satisfaction survey.
  1. To strengthen implementation of No-multiple Membership Policy-Avoidance of over-indebtedness to   
   begin with.
  2. To consistently and diligently implement Loan Utilization Check and Loan Monitoring Process
  3. To strengthen participatory approach to product development
  4. Strengthen group and centers solidarity
  5. Strengthen partnership with Insol on Business Development Services
  6. Product Developed appropriate to Agriculture: Evaluate Shield Program

Result 3: Corporate Social Responsibility
  1. Environment
   a. Advocate for: Solid Waste Management  
   b. Recycling Programs at the Center Level
  2. Governance   
   a. Sustainable, Efficient HR and Well Managed Organization
   b. Strengthen Life - Work Balance in ASHI
   c. Ethical Staff Behaviour

Result 4: Empowerment and Participation - Members acquired not only self-confidence but also dignity
  1. Strengthen Gender Responsive Programs
  2. Develop of Female - entrepreneurship Programs in partnership with Markant
  3. Participation in Local Governance (LED Program)
  4. Develop Bayanihan sweat  equity for socialized housing (APRROOT)
  5. Develop Community Managed Disaster Risk Reduction  (CMDRR) Programs
 

OBJECTIVES AND KEY RESULT  
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OUTREACH TO THE POOREST
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OUTREACH TO THE POOREST

Our portfolio currently has 25% of its members that are likely 
to live below the poverty line. Newer members (less years 
in ASHI) are likely to be poorer than ‘older’ members. The 
distribution of these poorest members in terms of years with 
ASHI is indicated below, illustrating a higher percentage 
living below the poverty line in the first years, and lower 
percentages in later years.

If we assess our existing portfolio per branch, we see on 
average poorer members in Antique. If we do the same, 
looking at main source of income, farming and fishing 
members seem to be poorer on average than members that 
are employed or operate an enterprise.
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Then, if we evaluate the poverty level of our clients based on 
where they live, the members in urban areas seem less poor.
compared to those living in rural areas.
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We are using the PPI for SPM as a targeting tool, for 
estimating the poverty status of new clients, and for 
evaluating our entire portfolio. We are able to perform 
in-depth analysis of our portfolio per branche and activity, 
and evaluate the performance of the different branches and 
offices in terms of poverty likelihood. Based on the current 
conclusions, we will proceed targeting the rural population, 
to further improve outreach to the 50% bottom poor women 
and their families.

Moreover, we will proceed using PPI in future years for 
evaluating the anticipated progress of our members.
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OUTREACH TO THE POOREST

To make sure that we reach our target group (the 50% bottom 
of poor women and their families), we have used dedicated 
measurement tools since several years now (including the 
so-called Cashpor means test, as well as the Housing Index 
test). In 2009 we started using Grameen Foundation’s ‘Progress 
out of Poverty Index’ (PPI). This tool has been calibrated to 
the National Poverty Line, and it makes it possible for us 
to assess the poverty level of our incoming new members, 
and also help us to see if and how our members rise above 
poverty.  The combination of PPI and other SPM surveys 
helps us to evaluate our mission alignment. In this paragraph, 
we will analyze and compare the PPI SPM scores of 13.719 
members. In the graph below, the average PPI score (lower 
score means poorer) shows a gradual increase with the years 
that members are in ASHI. The dotted line is inserted at 34 
points, or the score that can be attributed to the likelihood 
that the member lives below the National poverty line. After 
8 years the poverty level seems to consolidate.
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LOANS

General Loan members may choose a loan term of  25, 50 
or 100 weeks All members graduate to the next cycle based 
on credit rating and a strict loan monitoring process.  A 98% 
credit rating allows the member to receive the maximum 
amount of the next cycle those with lower rating have their 
loan amount reduced according to their percentage.  These 
loans must be utilized for income generating activities, with  
amounts ranging for 5,000 to 50,000. The Recovery Loan 
is also available  under the restoration process and for those 
in centers  declared “crisis” where member’s loans have been 
restructured, with a  provision that the members consistently 
paying their promissory notes for 25 weeks, prior to the 
release.

Microenterprise Loan are available to micro 
entrepreneurs, who have received business training through 
our partnership with INSOL Development Foundation’s 
BDS program, amount of  up to 150,000 can be accessed and 
repayment is based on the cash flow of the business. Cash 
flow records and the business plan are strictly monitored by 
INSOL Enterprise Center staff  and ASHI Microenterprise 
Desk from Head Office.
 
Agricultural Loan are managed outside the  Grameen  
Operations Department and follow a different methodology, 
The inspiration of solidarity group concept and repayment 
period provide a basis for the AGAP methodology.  
2008-2011 marked the start of the pilot test in Antique and 
will be evaluated to roll out to other branches of ASHI.  

Incentive Loan are provided for members who maintain 
100% record and include Housing, Educational and the 
Market Day Loan. To prevent over-indebtedness, each the 
General loan (productive loans) must be higher than the the 
total of the member’s incentive loans. Each member must 
have a maximum  of up to 70,000 or 1500 (US$) at one time 
combining all  loans including group fund loans.

TYPES OF INCENTIVE LOANS
a. Educational Loan to be used for tuition and school 
expenses, was the first incentive loan to be opened in 2000 
Amount up to 10,000 can be availed for terms 25 or 50 
weeks. 

b. Housing Loans can be considered as two types:  House 
Repair and Building Socialized Housing.  The House Repair 
Loan known as HRL was opened in 2003. A member may  
use the loan can be for any housing needs. A graduated loan 
cycle is applied from 5,000 up to 20,000 (US$ 420). In 2005 
another program was incubated, in response to the victims 
of demolition and those living in danger zone s,called 
“assistance for housing” or Tulong Pabahay  Program (TPP). 
Repayment terms  depend on the member’s capacity to pay 
and credit rating,  The TPP loan is approved  with a loan from 
the Government’s  Pag-ibig  fund for the house and lot.  In 
2009 in response to the typhoons Ondoy, Pepeng and Santi,  
the APRROOT socialized housing program was included 
as part of this, these loans are designated only for building 
houses, which cost P65,000. The Pilot program based in 
Pangil Laguna, included a 10000 sq meters lot donated by 
the municipality of Pangil Laguna. The area allowed for the  
construction of  167 houses.

c. Market Day Loans This type of loan is availed during 
special season in a village such as fiesta, all saints day where 
there is a need for a special capital to add to the general loan 
with immediate cash return, called “cash-only-business”. 
Repayment   terms range from 4 to 12 weeks.

Special Loans these loans are provided to meet emergencies 
of the members of the group as well as to address the problems 
within  the  center.

TYPES  OF SPECIAL LOANS
a. Group fund Loan this is taken from their group fund 
savings for sickness and other emergencies requiring the 
group approval payable from 6 to 12 weeks only. 

b. Center Loan this loan is granted  to cover for the remaining 
principal balance of members who disappeared.  The center 
members share in the amortization per week added on to 
their individual loan obligation.

PRODUCTS & SERVICES    FINANCIAL SERVICES 
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85% of ASHI members live in rural areas. The majority of 
the members operate an enterprise, including production, 
trade, store, sales etc. 

The percentage of members active in farming and fishing 
varies across the different areas. In South Metro Manila, 
being the most urban area, 43% of the members are employed 
(including part time employed as domestic helpers, factory 
workers, or Barangay health workers). 

While ASHI focuses its financial services to those that are 
engaged in livelihood enterprises, some members need to be 
employed as an additional income source for their family. 

SOUTH METRO MANILA
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LOANS: Portfolio Characteristics
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CURRENT MEMBERSHIP

LOANS: Portfolio Characteristics

NEW GROUPS
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One of the important monitoring for this year is that ASHI 
makes sure all memebers cleared from all obligations.

Antique has the biggest % of members cleared from their 
obligations. Rizal has the highest new members motivated 
to join followed by South Metro Manila.

Laguna still has to be innovating as this area has the most 
competition and restoration of centers to be undertaken, 
Laguna Northeast Branch and Laguna West Branch.

2007 2008 2009 2010

2007 2008 2009 2010
0

5 000

10 000

10 500

20 000

20 500

30 000

Comparatively targets  are set at  reasonable level but due to 
maintaining no multiple membership achievement is only 
averaging at 78%.

In terms of growth rate, 
Rizal have consistently 
maintain steady growth 
having the biggest 
members as of 2010.

0

1 000

2 000

3 000

4 000

5 000

6 000

7 000
8 000

Rizal

Antique
Laguna

South Metro 
Manila

Achievement
Target

PRODUCTS & SERVICES    FINANCIAL SERVICES 

Antique
Laguna

Rizal

South Metro
 

Manila

21     ASHI ANNUAL REPORT 2010



    ASHI ANNUAL REPORT 2010     22



LOANS: Disbursement

Loan Disbursement has always been the challenge because ASHI believes that all disbursements must be based on strict 
monitoring of credit rating.  All members have to have 98% over-all  rating broken down into 100% project and repayment 
and 98% attendance rate.  

Comparative Loan Disbursement in US $1-Php43 2009 2010
General Loan 5,000,717.33 5,453,449.80
Educational Loan 422,989.75 507,014.67
House Repaor Loan 758,052.71 869,008.56
Market Loan 1,351.04 1,862.53

6,183,109.83 6,831,335.57
Recovery Loans-client in crisis 89,565.98
Agriculture Loans (on Pilot) 21,574.42 10,644
Enterprise Loans (BDS Clients) 34,418.60 82,016.28
Restruvtured Loans (Converted under Special Loan) 7,367.77
Group Fund Loan 1,389,593.08
APRROOT Loan 3,354.21
TOTAL 12,424,221.68 15,245,212.45

Products to Specific Members Needs

Recovery Loan
(Client in 

Crisis)

Agricultural
Loan

(on Pilot)

Enterprise
Loan

(BDS Client)
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2009 2010 The increase in disbursement in 2009-2010 ASHI embarked 
on new financial products to responded   to  specific needs 
of farmers.  

Members with growth oriented businesses were able to access  
services  and larger Enterprise Loans in partnership INSOL 
Development  Foundation. ASHI Branches  focused on great  
effort on the restoration of  Centers  with the opening of an 
institutionalized recovery program through which members  
committed to  faithful compliance of promissory notes for 
25 weeks, received recovery loans redeem their  business and 
bring back dreams their hopes and dreams.

PRODUCTS & SERVICES    FINANCIAL SERVICES 
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LOANS: Outstanding

The Table below shows the average loan outstanding by area for the period 2007 – 2010. During the first four years the 
growth rate averaged 16% per year. The introduction of many new interventions in 2010 pushed a greater increase resulting 
in the increase of 22%.

In US $ 2007 2008 2009 2010
Antique 680,770.89 771,117.59 833,949.59 1,133,150.85
Laguna 688,598.02 715,319.09 821,123.52 1,033,436.99
Rizal 1,057,914.56 1,145,830.35 1,415,036.50 1,808,798.32
South Metro Manila 313,283.14 317,879.94 473,499.62 555,114.62
TOTAL ASHI 2,720,567 2,950,146.96 3,543,609.24 4,530,500.78

Rizal Area with the largest outreach has been consistent in portfolio increase through years while maintaining a healthy loan 
portfolio. Antique and Laguna Areas share the same amounts although the number of members and economic opportunities  
differ with Antique having more members and  Laguna a larger average loan size South Metro Manila Area,  struggling 
to increase through the years because of slow growth and high portfolio at risk due to the larger and more transient 
population.

Portfolio in the Hands of the Poor US 4,530,500.78
2010

Rizal
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SUCCESS STORIES

SUCCESS STORIES  

  Rodelia was only 17 when she married 
Arsenio Mateo.  Their livelihood then was weaving 
tikiw (ti-KYOO), a sharp grass like weed found in 
swampy areas, which was used by a liquor company for 
their packaging needs.  As working with tikiw caused 
abrasions on their hands and arms, Rodelia’s mother 
advised the couple to discontinue this livelihood which 
earned them only Php 60.00 per day.  Rodelia then 
tried to work in a factory while her husband drove a 
passenger’s jeepney.  Still it was hard to make both 
ends meet.  With the meager salary in the factory and 
an irregular income in driving, the couple decided to 
acquire a loan from a money lender.  With the loan, 

they bought and sold fish in the nearby Siniloan market in Laguna.

 Rodelia began her own fish raising business at the same time a 
trading business, while her husband drove his tricycle as a public transport 
service.  When Rodelia joined ASHI in 1996, the initial Php 2,000 loan as 
well as the subsequent loans helped the Mateo family expand and maintain 
their businesses in fishing, buying-and-selling, and acquiring an additional 
passenger tricycle.  Having put up several fish cages, Rodelia went into 
dealership, delivering the fish to her vendor customers in the market and 
in other municipalities. To cut costs, the tricycles initially doubled up as 
delivery as well as passenger vehicles.

 The present market value of these enterprises is estimated to be 
Php 585,000. Their assets include 30 fish cages, 5 fish traps, 2 passenger 
vehicles, a van, and a fiberglass boat.  Annual sales and receipts are registered 
at about Php 910,560.00.   Rodelia believes that her success in business 
could be intended not only for herself but for the community as well, as 
she sees the opportunity to provide income for vendors who sell her fish 
on consignment basis.  She attributes success to opportunities of obtaining 
sufficient capital, as well as skillful planning in running several enterprises 
at the same time.  

 Through the educational loan from ASHI and Rodelia’s thriving 
business, their eldest child was able to finish an engineering course and 
is now employed.  They have one more child to send to college. Rodelia 
was elected this year as secretary to the Fisherfolks Association in their 
barangay and is an active member of their community’s Women’s Club.

27     ASHI ANNUAL REPORT 2010



Rodelia Mateo
Laguna Area

    ASHI ANNUAL REPORT 2010    28



LOANS: Portfolio Management

The crisis in Indian Microfinance brought attention to the Philippine Microfinance Industry and highlighted the backlash 
from rapid growth, high interest rates and unethical staff behaviour.  This prompted the Center for Financial Inclusion to 
launch the SMART Campaign, know in the Philippines as Client Protection Principles (CPP). 

ASHI responded as an institution to endorse the campaign and rejoiced in the fact that we have remained conscious of 
Social Performance by and putting the client’s needs at the forefront. 

Area Multiple Membership
Php 70,000 

ASHI Debt Threshold
Total

Antique 297 29 326
Laguna 272 98 370
Rizal 268 176 444
South Metro Manila 367 1 368

TOTAL
1,204 304 1,508
5.56% 1.40% 6.97%

EXITS AND RETENTION
Exits & Retention rates are two important indicators of the satisfaction of members with  the services of ASHI. The 
Members Desk monitors the reasons why members leave,  and if the retention rate is high, this indicates good spirit of 
solidarity and cohesiveness in groups and centers.  The main reasons for member exit are identified as: (1)  Policies 
imposed on credit rating 36% and (2) migration for job opportunities 32%.  

There is a gradual decrease in exit rates over the last 5 years and increasing retention rate. Many exits occurs when members 
are in their first three loan cycles as they are adjusting to the solidarity group methodology,  following loan cycles show a 
retention rate of 92% at the close of 2010.

Retention Rate 2007 2008 2009 2010
Antique 88.83% 88.37% 90.21% 96.07%
Laguna 89.52% 85.29% 88.20% 89.49%
Rizal 91.52% 90.17% 92.24% 97.65%
South Metro Manila 85.04% 89.95% 91.28% 94.00%

The name of ASHI in the communities  invoke  a loyal customer base as the organizational culture operates with social 
responsibility and integrity. The creation during 2010 of the Members Desk, the department for monitoring the quality of 
services enjoyed by members, exhibits the intent to have a long and lasting relationship with its members.

PRODUCTS & SERVICES    FINANCIAL SERVICES 
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With ASHIs commitment to no multiple borrowings and addressing lengthy center meeting we have to exit the members 
as they are already members of other MFI. They have been hanging in our records. Competition was a big factor and no 
multiple membership policy.
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LOANS: Portfolio Management

Collection Rate Repayment Rate Attendance Rate
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Collection rate reflects efficiency of on time repayment. Crisis was encountered in 2007 to 2008 due to cut throat competition. 
Slowly recovering in 2009 and 2010. Repayment rate is kept at an average of 97%.

PORTFOLIO AT RISK

The Board of Directors and Management staff of ASHI pay high attention to monitoring delinquency and multiple 
borrowing. ASHI adheres to single membership policy and strongly implements open-transaction in its collection process. 
Open transaction has been an effective mechanism for ASHI in getting feedback from clients. The culture of giving and 
receiving feedback has helped ASHI in meeting the needs of its members thus help manage the risk of non-repayment.                                                                                    
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ASHI in the last 5 years have managed to keep the portfolio at risk to less 
than 3 %.  At the close of 2009 after the typhoon tragedy we have 2.68% 
portfolio at risk, but managed to restore majority of affected centers. 

Approximately  25  centers were monitored to be able to motivate them to 
restore their businesses.

Despite the highly competitive environment, the risk of over-indebtedness 
for ASHI members is in moderate. The low PAR of ASHI suggests limited 
incidence of client over-indebtedness. 

COLLECTION, REPAYMENT, ATTENDANCE

PRODUCTS & SERVICES    FINANCIAL SERVICES 
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The biggest share in the risk is the South Metro Manila 
area. The efforts of restoration in Metro San Pedro Branch 
was a success resulting in the Portfolio at Risk reduced  to 
7.95% at the end of the year.  In all areas the risk was reduced  
except in Laguna particularly in Laguna West Branch where 
the effect of the  2009 typhoon was greatest. Other issues 
resulting in the recurring arrears and past due included 
member, staff discipline and improper implementation of 
our  credit rating. 

2009
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LOANS: Porfolio Management
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To help maintain good center performance the branches classify centers under three defined criteria.

Very good - center meeting in one hour, 100% credit rating, the center chief and group chairman are doing their 
responsibilities, presence of Social development programs (SDP), proper seating arrangement and presence of peer pressure 
and peer support. 

Problematic - center meeting from one to 2 hours; 95 % credit rating, group chairman and center chief not consistent in 
doing their responsibilities, irregular social development programs, presence of inactive members.

Crisis - center meeting above 2 hours, or no center meeting at all, with past due and arrears, center chief and group chairman 
not doing their responsibilities, no peer pressure and peer support, no SDP and majority are inactive members. 

As of December 2010, out of the total 711 centers, 422 are very good (64%), 175 present problems (20%), and 114 are 
experiencing crisis (16%), This indicates an enormous amount of effort made by staff to maintain quality of portfolio. 
Classifications are posted in all the branch offices. This is now a helpful tool for the all the Center Chief,  ASHI Staff and 
Managers to draw strategies in order to prevent further deepening of problems  and find the root causes for problematic and 
crisis centers.

The Grameen Generalized System help address lengthy  center meeting (extending beyond the set 1½hours) and  
incomplete groups, however the “cut throat competition” where MFI offers no training, bigger loans to attract members 
from ASHI,  increases the workload of Development Officers who want to maintain quality of portfolio and avoidance of 
over-indebtedness.

CENTER MAINTENANCE

PRODUCTS & SERVICES    FINANCIAL SERVICES 
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SMART CAMPAIGN

The Client Protection Principles 

Smart Microfinance is being fully transparent in the pricing, terms and conditions of all financial products. Smart Microfinance 
is working with clients so they do not borrow more money than they can repay or use products that they do not need. Smart 
Microfinance employs respectful collection practices and adopts high ethical standards in the treatment of clients. Smart 
Microfinance gives clients a way to address their complaints so they can be served more effectively. Smart Microfinance 
ensures client data remains private. Smart Microfinance protects clients, businesses, and the industry as a whole.

Smart Microfinance encompasses core Client Protection Principles to help microfinance institutions practice good ethics 
and smart business. The Client Protection Principles are the minimum standards that clients should expect to receive when 
doing business with a microfinance institution. These principles were distilled from the path-breaking work by providers, 
international networks, and national microfinance associations to develop pro-client codes of conduct and practices. There is 
consensus within the microfinance industry that providers of financial services should adhere to these core principles:

Avoidance of Over-Indebtedness. Providers will take reasonable steps to ensure that credit will be extended only if  borrowers 
have demonstrated an adequate ability to repay and loans will not put the borrowers at significant risk of over-indebtedness. 
Similarly, providers will take adequate care that only appropriate non-credit financial products (such as insurance) are 
extended to clients.

Transparent and Responsible Pricing. The pricing, terms and conditions of financial products (including interest charges, 
insurance premiums, all fees, etc.) will be transparent and will be adequately disclosed in a form understandable to clients. 
Responsible pricing means that pricing, terms, and conditions are set in a way that is both affordable to clients and 
sustainable for financial institutions.

Appropriate Collections Practices. Debt collection practices of providers will be neither abusive nor coercive.

Ethical Staff Behavior. Staff of financial service providers will comply with high ethical standards in their interactions with 
microfinance clients, and such providers will ensure that adequate safeguards are in place to detect and correct corruption 
or mistreatment of clients. 

Mechanisms for Redress of Grievances. Providers will have in place timely and responsive mechanisms for complaints and 
problem resolution for their clients. 

Privacy of Client Data. The privacy of individual client data will be respected in accordance with the laws and regulations 
of individual jurisdictions, and such data cannot be used for other purposes without the express permission of the client 
(while recognizing that providers of financial services can play an important role in helping clients achieve the benefits of 
establishing credit histories).

SMART CAMPAIGN
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SAVINGS

Savings products follows the Compensating Balance Rule, where the  total savings must not exceed the loan portfolio and 
include:  Compulsory Savings,  Voluntary  Savings and  Special Savings. 

Voluntary Savings
Personal Fund - is a voluntary saving as the amount is not fixed and can be withdrawn any time. ASHI gives an interest of 
4 % for the savings provided P500 is maintained and is posted every end of the year.

Children’s Savings Fund - developed to provide a way for the member to save for the future education of her children. The 
member makes regular deposits which may not be withdrawn for the first two years. ASHI gives an interest of 4 % for the 
savings provided P500 is maintained and is posted every end of the year.

Compulsory Savings
Compulsory Fund - P5.00 per week, deposited every center meeting. It is a contribution to the Group Fund (internally 
generated fund to be borrowed by members in times of need). This is can be withdrawn upon resignation or exit from the 
organization.

Special Savings
Two types of Special Savings are provided giving opportunity for the members to experience managing Public funds.

Center Fund For the use of the center this is managed by the center, the members  chose the amount of regular deposit of 
their members and the reasons for withdrawal.

Trust Fund Regular deposits are made weekly but for the use of the member leaders at Branch level for activities representing 
their membership.

PRODUCTS & SERVICES    FINANCIAL SERVICES 



37     ASHI ANNUAL REPORT 2010

PRODUCTS & SERVICES    FINANCIAL SERVICES 

MICRO INSURANCE

In 2010 the existing  Damayan Program was resolved to be called MODIFIED DAMAYAN PROGRAM: Damayan Fund, 
this fund, originally used to contribute to the family upon death of a member had been institutionalized in 2006 through a 
one-time Membership Fee of P250.00 was converted to the Self Administered  Damayan  Program for members over 65 
years and the younger members were enrolled with Micro-Ensure a local NGO operating as an intermediary offering  micro 
insurance options through local insurance partners.

A. Self Administered of ASHI (Modified Damayan Program)
Benefits for contributing members who are 65 years and older shall consist of: (a) the funeral/memorial services and  
arrangements to be rendered/provided through memorial plans to be availed from the St. Peter Memorial Plans (particularly 
its Hyacinth plan costing P19,100.00 under the block unit arrangements) which plans are to be purchased by ASHI, and (b) 
a  cash benefit of of P31,900. The total benefits are thus fixed at a total value P 50000. 

The total members under this program are 909 members with two hundred ninety thousand eight hundred eighty pesos 
(P290,880.00) collection as of December 2010.

B. Partnership with Micro Ensure
MICROENSURE recognizes significant potential synergies in a strategic relationship encompassing a business relationship 
for the provision of micro-insurance and services to poor and financially vulnerable persons, and  has entered into business 
agreement with  AHON SA HIRAP INC. ASHI agrees to work together with MicroEnsure in poverty alleviation programs 
particularly in packaging micro insurance products such as life insurance.

At the end of December 2010, the total membership of ASHI enrolled in Micro ensure are 17, 137 with the total collection 
of ten million nine hundred fifty six thousand three hundred eighty three pesos (P10,956,383.00). From April 1 to December 
30, 2010 we had 144 deaths occurred and the number of releases were ninety five (95) for the member, spouse and children 
amounting to three million one hundred fifteen thousand pesos (P 3,115,000.00).
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SUCCESS STORIES

SUCCESS STORIES  
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  Olivia’s Store started with comics rental in 
1984, Initial capital for the store came from ‘pakimkim’ 
(money given to Olive and her husband at their wedding 
celebration). With this gift money, she purcahsed 
pocketbooks, candies and a variety of snack food which 
she laid out on a table. After 3 years, Olivia and her 
husband were able to put up a small sari-sari store 
(variety store) to which they added new merchandise 
in response to the suggestions of their customers. The 
business went smoothly and their store was recognized 
as the neighborhood sari-sari store.

 It was in the year 1999 that Olivia decided to join ASHI. At 
that time, her ASHI loan of Php 3,000 was sufficiently for an additional 
capital. With the encouragement and support of her husband, the business 
grew. The increase in her working capital to Php 50,000 enabled her to 
include e-load which is in high demand by her customers. Her sari-sari 
store became known to be variety store with more reasonable prices than 
the nearby store in the barangay.  Her experience working in the store 
developed her confidence in dealing with suppliers and openness with her 
customers.

 In 2008, Olivia availed of her first Enterprise Loan of Php 75,000 
which was used for the expansion of the store, and the purchase of tools 
and equipment, and bulks of merchandise. Olivia’s store is now registered 
under the Department of Trade and Industry.

 Despite her busy schedule at the store, Olivia is fully committed 
to her role as Center Chief in ASHI, and attends various trainings to 
benefit her business performance.  At the same time, she is a member of 
the Local Board of INSOL Development Foundation. Education for their 
two children was a priority in the life of the Olivia and her husband. For 
them, it was the only legacy they could leave them. One of her children 
has completed her studies and is now employed, while the other one is 
still in school. Having their goal of educating their children almost fully 
achieved, Olivia would also like to see other members of ASHI to have a 
stable business someday just like hers. She is indeed a good role model for 
an entrepreneur. 

       



Olivia Figurasin
Rizal Area
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Leadership Training of Center Chief and Group Chairperson
The GC and CC leaders congress addressed the issue of transition leadership at the center level. The leaders understand 
the responsibility in the center, the training program is now regularly built in the annual training schedule and with the 
Development Officers as trained facilitators, they can now conduct the workshop at the center level. More importantly, 
Mechanism to Redress Grievances “Due Process” has also been taken up. Each of the leaders have a written copy of the 
handbook translated into Filipino language.
           
Financial Education 
1. Cash Flow Management – under microenterprise as  part of Social Development Program, training on managing finance 
in coordination with INSOL Development Foundation, Inc.

2. Solidarity Formation Seminar – a one day retraining of center to develop solidarity and plan for strengthening of the 
center unity and enhance the participatory planning process.

3. Farmers Education: This a two training on farm plan and budgeting. Formation of Farmers solidarity in the process.

APRROOT (ASHI Project Relief and Rebuilding to Overcome Ondoy’s Tragedy)
Social Preparation
1. Conducted dialogue and meetings with the APRROOT Beneficiaries for the house construction 
2. Formulation of rules and process flows for “bayanihan” systems
3. Conducted planning workshop for the beneficiaries for sustainable community association 
4. Beneficiaries screening & selection for potential workers

NON FINANCIAL SERVICES

NON  F I NA NC IAL  SERVICES 
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INTERNAL

Disaster Risk Mitigation-awareness Building
The workshop was based on the concept of ‘experiential learning”, the bridging of theory and practice. Using a framework 
for critical analysis and learning, participants are encouraged to reflect upon their own experiences with the inputs provided 
during the course. The course follows both a sequential flow of  contents and interpretive reflections.

The synthesis of learning by the participants - both individually and in teams - helps them generate concepts based on 
their own context. The self-assessment and action plan that is prepared by each participant helps them to undertake active 
analysis.

PORTFOLIO

A. Solid Waste Management: 2010 marked the beginning of programs for recycling.  In Antique, ASHI executed a 
Memorandum of agreement with the Municipality of Hamtic.  Where the Municipal government will provide shredding 
machines to the participating centre for paper and plastic recycling.  

ASHI will organize the center as the distribution centre  for all shredded plastics. In line with the program, the shredding 
machines were also provided by the Department of Agriculture for organic fertilizer. In Luzon, centre participated in 
recycling training and product innovation for water-lily production under the leadership of Department of Trade and 
Industry (DTI).

B. Loan Utilization:  In 2011, ASHI will organize more intensive drive for supporting productive loan that prohibits use of 
plastics, instead use of bayong (recycled baskets), charcoal . Provide training on alternative  businesses that prohibits the use 
of toxic container for food. Continue to work with DTI on products developed through “Water Lily” that is very 
common around Laguna de Bay.

C. Agriculture - provide training towards organic agriculture and use of organic fertilizer.

ENVIRONMENT

ENV I RONM EN T, SO CIAL , AND  GOVERNANCE (ESG) MANAGEMEN T
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SUCCESS STORIES

SUCCESS STORIES  

  Cecelia Habulan came from a family of 13 
children.  At an early age, she was given the responsibility 
to look after her younger siblings while her parents worked 
in the field. Realizing the need to help augment the family 
income, Cecelia took up a two year vocational course in 
Agricultural Technology. Upon graduation she left for 
Manila to look for more lucrative work.  The earnings she 
made working in a restaurant and in other menial jobs she 
sent to the family in the province.

  In 1996, Cecelia decided to join ASHI after 
attending a projection meeting in Wawa, Alabang, 
Muntinlupa.  It has since been a nine-year fruitful  experience 
for her and her husband Danilo. Like most Filipinos, 

Cecelia and Danilo’s foremost aspiration is to see their three children finish their 
education that would assure them of a life better than they 
themselves had.

  The fight against poverty was not easy for Cecelia, but what was 
important for her was to have courage and the determination to overcome 
hardships. Cecelia and her husband put up the Mega Star Studio, a photo and 
video business registered with the Department of Trade and Industries.  The studio 
provides photo or video coverage of various social occasions such as birthdays, 
weddings, debut, and school graduation celebrations.  It also includes service for 
ID lamination, wood lamination and framing.  Current asset of the business is 
Php 1,326,000.00.  Average monthly income is Php 76,000.00.  Cecelia hires 
four to five additional workers during peak seasons from among the members of 
ASHI, and offers commission for referrals for their service.  

  As for the business they envision that in two to three years time 
they will be able to open up a digital photography shop outlet in one of the 
leading commercial districts in Muntinlupa. They plan to have their own team of 
editing experts in visual art and photography.

  With a parcel of land they had acquired, they see an agricultural business opportunity. They plan to have a 
small hog raising farm, a tilapia culture fram, meat processing, and to go into feeds and fertilizer dealership. They hope to 
generate employment and contribute to the growth and development of their municipality. Relatives in the province need 
not migrate to highly urbanized areas such as Muntinlupa to find employment.
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Cecelia Habulan
South Metro Manila Area
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SOCIAL

HUMAN RESOURCE

Complete Review of Staff Compensation Package-With 
adjustment in salaries came the review of personnel levels 
and brackets according to accountability and responsibility. 

Retirement Policy was set,  including  setting up a Retirement 
fund, to be placed in a risk free investment,  in view of low 
attrition rate registered in the past 10 years.  

In regard to the development of  Middle Managers 
and transition leadership, discussion of introducing a 
Graduate level Program Development was entered into.  
Department Leadership appointments were made, for the 
following  Members Desk, Operation, Information and 
Technology, Audit Supervisor (part time) and, Finance.  
An Administrative Officer was also hired to separate the 
function of administration and finance, leaving the Position 
of HR Manager to be recruited in 2011.

Hiring procedures assess new employees for compatibility 
with organizational values and ethics 

a. The Development Officers (DOs) are trained intensively 
upon entry. Staff are equipped with appropriate skills and 
attitudes on practices and policies for both financial and 
nonfinancial services of ASHI.  The program provides 
support through mentoring from senior staff. 

b. The Center Chiefs and members are also trained as they 
are vital in the collection process. Members have their own 
set of Code of  Ethics. 

c. Managers and Supervisors review ethical behavior, 
professional conduct and the quality of interaction with 
customers as part of staff performance evaluations. Members 
take part in evaluating the performance of the  Development 
Officers.

Staffing

0
2007 2008 2009 2010
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Staffing per Area 2007 2008 2009 2010
Antique 27 28 32 35
Laguna 28 28 30 31
Rizal 31 29 36 36
South Metro Manila 14 14 18 20

Staff have reached to 144 with 30 in the Head Office and 
122 in the field operations.

At  the field Operation there are 4 Area Managers, 21 Branch 
Managers, 19 Accounts Officers , and 82 Development 
Officers completing the 122 field operations while  in the 
Head Office in Operation, I&T, HR, Administration, 
Members Desk, Microenterprise, Housing, Finance, Audit, 
LED completing 30 personnel by the year ending 2010.

ENV I RONM EN T, SO CIAL , AND  GOVERNANCE (ESG) MANAGEMEN T

Staff Branches Staff Head Office

The staff attrition rate increased from 3% from 2009 to 6% in 
2010.  The Imposition of Code of Discipline had increased the 
cases of termination and forced resignation. The challenge to 
improve the system of performance evaluation and rewards 
system remains to be a big program ahead. ASHI plans to 
professionalize HR to address all personnel issues.
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GENDER

ASHI was established with the social mission to uplift the economic condition of its women members by bringing Grameen 
Bank system in the doorstep of depressed and marginal areas. The results of focus group discussions on gender orientation 
held in different ASHI branches validated the initial survey conducted by ASHI and the recent gender awareness congress 
held this year. 

First, the participants affirmed that indeed ASHI’s economic assistance helped empower the women to become less dependent 
on their husband/partners and helped support their family needs. ASHI’s interventions helped the women regain their self-
confidence and build their self-esteem as persons with human dignity. Unfortunately, despite the economic improvement 
that they experienced, most of them are victims of violence, multiple burden and subordination. Their husbands often 
become jealous of their economic freedom and power. Complaints of family negligence and abandonment of husbands’ 
equal responsibilities at home came out very strongly in all the discussions. Some husbands’ impose on the kind of livelihood 
projects that the women member use their  loans for. 

Sexuality issues also came up: these included  discrimination against homosexuals, early pregnancy and child and teenage 
rearing, women’s basic rights and the laws that can protect them against violence. They are also uninformed of the processes 
and contacts that they can approach for support services. Most of the Focus Group participants have low gender awareness 
and are basically traditional in their views and attitudes on gender and gender relations.

The major recommendations that were put forward by the participants are:

a. Counselling and legal advice , a  clinic on matters pertaining of family relations will be developed (eg. Abandonment  
 and alimony, rape/incest cases, battery, concubinage, legal separation, etc.)

b. Skills in gender sensitive counselling and paralegal work will be developed (including knowing and understanding of  
 basic rights of women and children and laws pertaining to women)

c. The support system within ASHI (branches, committees, local groups) will be build further. This can be in the form  
 of networking, psychiatric help, legal assistance, medical assistance and emergency loan. Disclosure of gender  
 concerns and discussion steps to respond to these in unit meetings will be encouraged.

d. Information exchange and closer communication among members and between the members and head office will be  
 strengthened. Business orientation has to be balanced by compassionate and friendly sisterly relations.

e. Regular counselling sessions will be held in each branch on gender issues affecting the members (i.e. peer counselling  
 and counselling on family life, gender relations and child rearing, including male counselling).

f. Intensive gender education and value formation will be included in ASHI’s product and service portfolio.

g. Sessions on gender and sexuality will be organized.

h. ASHI will form a counselling team for the members, a trainers’ pool for gender awareness training and workshops and a  
 paralegal team.

This year Antique Area joined the Gender and Development Inter-Agency Committee (GAD-IAC) Women’s Month 
celebration last March 8, 2011. The agency recognized Adora Fajiculay as the “Most Enterprising Women in Antique”.

GEN DER
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MEMBERS ENGAGEMENT

The Social Development Program is one of ASHI’s important 
programs. It helps our members to have additional knowledge 
as well new skills leading to additional income. This helps 
the center meeting become more alive and more interesting 
because the members extend their  focus from  loans to how 
they can learn more to improve their skills.It is the initiative 
of a Center Chief and Group Chairperson assists in the needs 
of the center that will enhance the solidarity of the groups. In 
addition to the social development program conducted at the 
center, activities were undertaken in coordination with local 
governments.  Antique Area maintains  the strongest linkage 
in Local Government Unit among four (4) areas. Example 
of this is a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) through 
Department of Agriculture to have 3 shredding machines 
(used to shred banana stalks, leaves, rice stalks and etc.  a 
primary food of vermi worm to produce organic compost 
that will use as fertilizer involvement in the “ fruit basket 
program” (wherein 2,000 grafted lanzones and rambutan 
planted in the members backyards). 

The  other areas have made their own effort and conducted 
SDP’s which include sports fest, folk dance competition  
during  anniversaries, raffle draw, gift giving to indigent 
people, and even mass wedding etc.

Ahon Sa Hirap, Inc. is proud of how we empowered and 
molded our women members. This starts when a poor 
woman joins ASHI without knowledge of business, and 
continues  until she has reached the highest amount of loan 
and transformed her dreams into reality.  The staff willingness 
to guide and teach the members to value their dignity is 
the essence of their well being leading to their overcoming 
poverty. Once the member reaches confidence in herself 
she begins to take on leadership in her groups and center 
with  the possibility of becoming  a leader in her community. 
(Read Amalia Berana’s story)

As of now we have empowered 4,657 group chairpersons, 
871 center chiefs who have an important role providing 
leadership for members in their centers. They are given 
leadership training to help them initiates an effective 
strategy in handling group and center meetings. On 
taking up  the position she shall have the ability to assess 
the needs and problem of the center to be reported to 
monthly center chief meeting at branch level. As time goes 
her capacity and leadership experience allows her to become 
a candidate for a position in the community as Barangay 
Chairman, Barangay Council, Barangay Health Worker, 
Barangay Nutritionist and other civic organization. 

Synopsis of Mrs. Amalia Beraña Leadership Story

Mrs. Amalia Berana is ASHI member in Sipsipin Center of Rizal East Branch. She was then timid and shy when she 
joined ASHI. Through her good performance as group leader she held the position as center chief of that center. From 
problematic center it turns very good until they achieved the national award “ASHI’s Best Center 2002”. She also chosen 
as “Best Center Chief of the Year award”. After a year she was elected as Member Representative to the Board of Rizal 
Area. She quipped “I cannot forget the first time I speak in front of hundreds people in Rizal area. I felt my heartbeats 
run faster and the coldness of my feet and hands”.  She visualizes how she leads her center at the same time as board 
representative. She gave her very best to be the “voice of other members” to the management and board of ASHI.

It was year 2009, when she was  elected as Barangay Chairwoman. She never believes that it will happen to her life. She 
knows that having this position will be a big challenge to her. The expectations of the people are there. At the moment, 
she is active member of ASHI. She availed her loan amounting to P46, 000.00 that she used in her agriculture (farming) 
business. As an empowered person molded by ASHI she knows that as a mother, a wife a member, board representative 
and at the same time barangay chairwoman everything goes well because the experiences in the center strengthen her 
leadership skills.

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

ENV I RONM EN T, SO CIAL , AND  GOVERNANCE (ESG) MANAGEMEN T
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GOVERNANCE

Very much Participative Governance  is exercised within ASHI Beginning with  the group, center,  to the branch then  the 
area level up to the Board Level. The regular meetings at all levels serve as a venue for discussions and recommendations. 

“Family Time” is included in staff meeting and conferences to discuss grievances if any and any discussion of present 
system during Quarterly & Annual Planning and Evaluation. It is very evident that ASHI implements the Management by 
Culture approach where the Management Team members learns to adjust the leadership style on the sub-cultures present in 
the branches/centers, balanced with due respect to  position and functions.

ASHI adapted major institutional restructuring and innovations:

(i) A regular review and realignment of ASHI’s organizational structure to meet its targets and respond to new challenges 

(ii) The development of its human resources through the institutionalization of training and development among its staff   
 and beneficiaries; 

(iii) Upgrading and maintenance of the financial management system 

(iv) A more proactive institution building via the strengthening of its corporate base and linkages with partner institutions.

There are 9 seats in the Board of Trustees with women occupying five. Three seats with voting power are provided for 
representatives from the women-members, elected from among those who have enrolled as Kabalikat members (with paid 
membership beyond those who join to avail of a loan). This voting right to members to choose their representative (to the 
Board) is becoming to be a widely accepted privilege in the centers.  

Mainly responsible for the policy direction, formulation and approval, the Board consults and invites Area and Branch 
Managers to attend meetings and planning sessions. It also shows support and encouragement to the local staff by attending 
special activities in the different branches. 

The Board members as well as the President conducts regular dialogue with the staff and the members where programs, 
policies and operational problems are tackled. ASHI Board considers support to operational activities and warm family 
culture as the key to unity and cooperation among its staff and members/mothers.

ENV I RONM EN T, SO CIAL , AND  GOVERNANCE (ESG) MANAGEMEN T
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

FI NANCIA L REVI EW

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY

The management of Ahon Sa Hirap, Inc. is responsible for all information and representations contained in the financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

In this regard, management maintains a system of accounting and reporting which provides for the necessary internal controls 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatements, 
whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances

A.M. YU & Associates, Certified Public Accountants (Rosemarie R. Salvio-Leonida – Partner)
the independent auditors engaged by the Board of Trustees, has examined the financial statements of the company in 
accordance with the Philippine Standards on Auditing and has expressed their opinion on the fairness of presentation upon 
completion of such examination in their report to the Board of Trustees.

MILA G. MERCADO-BUNKER (SGD,ORIGINAL)
President

ATTY. JAIME G. HOFILEÑA(SGD,ORIGINAL)
Corporate Secretary

MA. WIVINA L. DE VERA(SGD,ORIGINAL)
Treasurer
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AHON SA HIRAP, INC.
(a Non-Stock Non-Profit Organization)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009
(All Amounts in Philippines Pesos)
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Notes 2010 2009
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash & Cash Equivalent 2,3,5,26 90,308,559.27 66,987,251.97
Receivables 2,3,6,26 220,582,513.30 172,049,873.30
Other Current Assets 2,3,7,26 13,346,070.13 22,498,174.54

324,237,142.70 261,535,271.81
NON CURRENT ASSETS
Property and Equipment 2, 3, 8 15,062,649.80 13,682,435.07
Other Receivables 2, 3, 9, 26 34,952,045.95 31,275,515.72
Other Non Current Assets 2, 3, 10, 26 10,749,591.51 6,732,854.70

60,764,287.26 51,690,805.49
TOTAL ASSETS 385,001,429.96 313,226,077.30
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest Payable - Others 2, 3, 11, 26 2,406,732.16 2,259,116.71
Loans Payable - Others 2, 3, 11, 26 95,236,399.50 62,526,732.42
Fund Savings 2, 3, 12, 26 59,378,423.86 58,678,194.58
Other Current Liabilities 2, 3, 13, 26 11,473,704.18 10,835,508.48

168,495,259.70 134,299,552.19
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans Payable - Others 2, 3, 11, 26 112,796,605.57 88,470,508.85

281,291,865.27 222,770,061.04
EQUITY 2, 3, 14 103,709,564.70 90,456,016.26
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 385,001,429.97 313,226,077.30

(See accompanyinng Notes to Financial Statements)



FINANCIAL REVIEW

FI NANCIA L REVI EW

AHON SA HIRAP, INC.
(a Non-Stock Non-Profit Organization)
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009
(All Amounts in Philippines Pesos)
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Notes 2010 2009
Financial Income 2,3,16 69,666,751.72    55,772,050.19
Financial Expenses 2,3,17 (20,400,150.09) (16,521,851.91)
Financial Margin 49,266,601.63 39,250,198.28
Other Income 2,3,18 1,770,267.80 1,664,072.47
GROSS FINANCIAL MARGIN 51,036,869.43 40,914,270.75
EXPENSES
Personnel Expenses 2, 3, 19 35,114,168.26 30,640,100.27
Administrative Expenses 2, 3, 20 17,211,358.17 14,459,817.48
Rental/Depreciation and Maintenance 2, 3, 21 2,032,669.80 1,695,654.61
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (3,321,326.80) (5,881,301.61)
Grants 2, 3, 25 5,117,989.81  6,442,157.35
Donations 2, 3, 23, 25 589,505.10 885,393.85
Program Expenses 2,3,22 (5,983,761.38) (5,943,161.92)
NET LOSS AFTER GRANTS & 
DONATIONS (3,597,593.27) (4,496,912.33)

Salamat Fund - Current Year 2,3,25 16,608,406.50 13,331,174.92
NET INCOME 13,010,813.23 8,834,262.59

(See accompanyinng Notes to Financial Statements)

Notes 2010 2009
Donated Equity
Kabalikat Membership/Fee Annual Dues 2, 3, 14 1,027,251.50 808,136.50
Endowment Fund 2, 3, 14 8,201,770.75 8,178,270.75
Salamat Fund 2, 3, 14 9,635,616.45 9,635,616.45
Reserves/Net  Surplus 2, 3, 14 84,844,926.00 71,833,992.56
TOTAL EQUITY 103,709,564.70 90,456,016.26

AHON SA HIRAP, INC.
(a Non-Stock Non-Profit Organization)
STATEMENTS OF FUND BALANCE
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009
(All Amounts in Philippines Pesos)

(See accompanyinng Notes to Financial Statements)



AHON SA HIRAP, INC.
(a Non-Stock Non-Profit Organization)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009
(All Amounts in Philippines Pesos)
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Notes 2010 2009
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess (Deficit) of Receipts over Disbursements including 
realized forex adjustment 2, 3 13,010,813.23 8,834,262.59

Adjustment for:
Depreciation 2, 3, 21 1,829,355.80 1,469,288.91
Prior Period Adjustments
For Loans & Savings
(Antique Branches)
(Luzon Branches) 2,3 (3,303,222.77)
For Loan Loss Reserve 2,3 120.21
Adjustments to Accum. Depreciation - Property & Equipment 2,3,8 (1,898,075.41) (234,446.96)
(Increase) Decrease in Other Current Assets 2,3,7 9,152,077.41 (609,081.08)
Increase (Decrease) in Other Current Liabilities 2,3,13 638,195.70 (10,345.30)
Net Cash provided by (Used in) Operating Activities 22,732,486.94 6,146,455.39
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Increase) Decrease in Assets
Receivables (Net Portfolio) 2, 3, 6 (48,532,641.00) (20,090,326.12)
Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities
Interest Payable 2, 3, 11 147,615.45 390,135.28
Loans Payable - Others (Current) 2, 3, 11 32,709,667.08 25,323,601.21
Loans Payable - Others (Long Term) 2, 3, 11 24,326,096.72 21,674,638.87
Fund Savings 2, 3, 12 700,229.28 9,988,356.06
Donated Equity 2, 3, 14 242,615.00 74,564.00
Net Cash provided by (Used in) Financing Activities 9,593,582.53 37,360,969.30
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
(Increase) Decrease in
Property Equipment 2, 3, 8 (1,311,495.12) (3,647,495.93)
Other Non-Current Assets 2, 3, 10 (7,693,267.04) (9,820,674.76)
Net Cash provided by (Used in) Investing Activities (9,004,762.16) (13,468,170.69)
Net Decrease in Cash & Cash Equivalent 23,321,307.30 (30,039,254.00)
Cash & Cash Equivalents
January 01 2, 3, 5 66,987,251.97 36,947,997.97
December 31 2, 3, 5 90,308,559.27 66,987,251.97

(See accompanyinng Notes to Financial Statements)
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AHON SA HIRAP, INC.
(a Non-Stock Non-Profit Organization)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009
(All Amounts in Philippines Pesos)

1. Corporate Information
AHON SA HIRAP, INC. (ASHI) (the Company) was registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
on July 24, 1991 with SEC Reg. No. AN091-193608 as a  Non-profit, Non-sectarian, Non-Stock Poverty Alleviation 
institution using Grameen Methodology organized as a Non-Government Organization (NGO).
 
The Company’s registered business address is at No. 76, 8th Avenue, Cubao, Quezon City1109.

Ahon Sa Hirap Inc. or ASHI has the distinction of the first replicator of the Grameen approach to credit for the bottom 
poor in the Philippines. ASHI expresses its vision that its poor members will be empowered to rise above poverty through 
their unity, discipline, hard work and perseverance.  ASHI’s leadership has taken on the challenge to make the organiza-
tion an agent of change among the bottom poor women by strengthening their economic life and promoting spiritual and 
educational well-being.  Moreover, with its outstanding achievements over the years, it has become the role model of credit 
delivery to the poor in the country.

The accompanying financial statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2010 (including the compara-
tives for the year ended December 31, 2009) were authorized for issue by the Board of Trustees (BOT) on April 4, 2010.  
The Board of Trustees is still empowered to make revisions on these Financial Statements even after the issuance thereof.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized 
below. The policies have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise stated.
      
Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a fair value measurement basis. The measurement basis is 
more fully described in the accounting policies below.  

Functional and Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Pesos, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency 
under the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). All amounts are rounded to the nearest   peso, except when 
otherwise indicated. 

Statement of Compliance
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplate the realization of 
assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous years, except for the adoption of the following 
amendments, which the company has adopted effective on or after January 1, 2010.
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“Improvements to PFRSs 2009,” is a collection of amendments to twelve PFRS, issued by the FRSC which comprise
 the latest set of annual improvements.  The FRSC uses the annual improvements project to make necessary, but non-urgent, 
amendments to PFRS that will not be included as part of another major project.  The 2009 amendments reflects issues that 
were included in exposure drafts of (a) proposed amendments to PFRS in October 2007; (b) proposed amendments to 
PFRS in August 2008; and (c) January 2009.

PAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”, “Current/non-current classification of convertible instruments,” clarifies that 
the potential settlement of a liability by the issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as current or noncurrent.  By 
amending the definition of current liability, the amendment permits a liability to be classified as non-current (provided that 
the entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12 months after the 
accounting period) notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required by the counterparty to settle in shares at any 
time.

PAS 7, “Statement of Cash Flows”, “Classification of expenditures on unrecognized assets,” requires that only expenditures 
that result in a recognized asset in the statement of financial position can be classified as investing activities.

PAS 17, “Leases”, “Classification of leases of land and Buildings,” deletion of specific guidance regarding classification of 
leases of land, so as to eliminate inconsistency with the general guidance on lease classification. As a result, leases of land 
should be classified as either finance or operating using the general principles of PAS 17.

PAS 18, “Revenue”, “Determining whether an entity is acting as a principal or as an agent,” additional guidance added to the 
appendix to PAS 18 Revenue regarding the determination as to whether an entity is acting as a principal or an agent.

The adoption of these amendments did not have an significant impact on the Company’s financial position or performance 
as of December 31, 2010.

Future Changes in Accounting Policy
The company did not early adopt the following new and revised standards, Philippine interpretations and amendments that 
have been approved but not yet effective.

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments. The FRSC is yet to adopt International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9, Financial 
Instruments as of the financial report date. With IFRS 9, which will become effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 
2013, the IASB aims to replace IAS 39 (PAS 39 in the Philippines), Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
in its entirety by the end of 2010. IFRS 9 is the first part of Phase 1 of this project. The main phases are (with a separate 
project dealing with derecognition):
 Phase 1: Classification and Measurement
 Phase 2: Impairment Methodology

PFRS 9 introduces major simplifications of the classification and measurement provisions under PAS 39. These include 
reduction from four measurement categories into two categories, i.e. fair value and amortized cost, and from several 
impairment methods into one method. 

Management is yet to assess the impact that this amendment is likely to have on the financial statements of the Company.  
However, management does not expect to implement the amendments until all chapters of PAS 39 replacement have been 
published and the impact of all changes can be comprehensively assessed.
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Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial assets and liabilities are included in the initial measurement of all financial assets and liabilities, 
except for financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Company recognized a financial asset or a 
financial liability in the balance sheets when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. In the case 
or regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and de recognition, as applicable, is done using settlement date 
accounting.  Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument of a component that is a financial liability, 
are reported as expense or income. 

Financial assets are further classified into the following categories:
a. Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through profit or loss. Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if 
the following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 
otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; or (ii) the assets are part 
of a group of financial assets which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, n accordance with a 
documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the assets contain an embedded derivative that would need to be separately 
recorded. As of December 31, 2010, the Company has no financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

b. Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are carried at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized 
in the statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization 
process. The Company has non-derivative financial assets.

Impairment of Financial Assets or Provisioning
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
(an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

For loans and receivables, the Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If 
the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses for impairment.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by 
being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. 
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are 
not included in a collective assessment for impairment.
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If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
that have not been incurred).  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account and the 
amount of loss is charged to the statement of operations. Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are 
written-off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery has been realized. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of 
the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any 
amounts formerly charged are credited to the “Other income” account.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of such credit risk 
characteristics as term and past-due status.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Company.  Historical loss experience 
is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on 
which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist 
currently.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Company 
to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Assets Carried at Amortized Cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivable carried at amortized cost has been incurred, 
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial assets 
shall be reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in 
the statements of income. 

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individual asset with similar 
credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually 
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is on continues to be recognized are not included n a collective 
assessment or impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the statements of income, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset 
does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.

Assets Carried at Cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value 
because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of 
such an unquoted equity instruments has been occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of 
return for a similar financial asset.
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Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized 
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;•	
the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay   them in  •	

 full without material delay to a third party under a pass-through  arrangement; or
the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred        •	

 substantially  all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially    
 all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent 
of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of guarantee over 
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Company could be required to repay.  Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written 
and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the 
Company’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Company may repurchased, except that 
in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, 
the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the 
option exercise price.

Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in 
the statement of income.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and when he carrying value of an asset 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the asset or cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is written down to its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and value in use.  Recoverable 
amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
For impairment loss on specific assets or investments, the recoverable amount represents the net selling price.

An assessment is made at the balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
or whether there is any indication that an impairment loss previously recognized for an asset in prior years may no longer 
exist or may have decreased.  If any such indication exists and when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount, the asset or cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is written down to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  An impairment 
loss is charged against operations in the year in which it arises.
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A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in estimate used to determine the 
recoverable amount of an asset, however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined 
(net of any accumulated depreciation and amortization for property and equipment) had no impairment loss been recognized 
for the asset in prior years.  A reversal for impairment loss, if any, is credited to current operations.

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and only if, there is 
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the 
related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the balance sheet.

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation, either legal or constructive, as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.  When the Company expects reimbursement of some or all of 
the expenditure required to settle a provision, the entity recognizes a separate asset for the reimbursement only when it is 
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received when the obligation is settled.

The amount of the provision recognized is the best estimated of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  When a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows. 

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognized because their existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. Contingent liabilities, if any, 
are disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are 
disclosed only when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Financial Assets
Financial assets include cash on hand and in banks and other financial instruments. Financial assets are classified into the 
following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and receivables. Financial assets are assigned to the 
different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the assets were acquired.

Cash
Cash represents cash in banks in Peso and Foreign Currency deposits, which are immediately available for use in current 
operations at Balance Sheet date.  As part of internal control, Petty Cash Fund and Revolving Fund is being set up at the 
Beginning of year and then closed at year-end.

Cash Equivalents
Cash Equivalents are highly liquid placements with maturity of three months or less from acquisition date.
As of December 31, 2010, the Company has Cash Equivalents stated at fair value.
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Receivables
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
These are stated at amortized cost less provision for impairment.  Impairment is considered when there is objective evidence 
that the Company will not be able to collect the debts.  Receivables are included in current assets, except for maturities 
greater than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current assets.

The Loan loss reserve which is equivalent to Allowance for Doubtful Accounts is the estimated amount of probable losses 
arising from non-collection based on past collection experience and management’s review of the current status of the long-
outstanding receivables under the provisioning policies passed by the Board of Trustees.
As of December 31, 2010, the Company has receivables stated at fair value.

Property and Equipment
Property and Equipment are carried at acquisition costs, excluding the cost of day-to-day serving, less accumulated 
depreciation and amortization and any impairment in value.

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after the property, plant and 
equipment have been put into operations, such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally charged to 
operations in the period the costs are incurred.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures 
have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, 
plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as additional 
costs of property and equipment.  Cost also includes any asset retirement obligation and interest on borrowed funds used. 
When assets are sold or retired, their costs and accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, if any, are 
eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is included in the statement of operations of 
such period.

Depreciation and amortization are calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets. The useful life of each 
of the property, plant and equipment is estimated based on the period over which the asset is expected to be available for use.  
Such estimation is based on a collective assessment of industry practice and experience with similar assets.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each financial year-end.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset. -Any gain or loss arising on de- recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the statement of operations in the 
year the item is derecognized.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has Property and Equipment stated at fair value.

Other Receivables - Land Acquisition - TPP - represents costs not limited to purchase of lot but to include taxes and fees 
for land conversion, capital gains and facilitation fees.
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Tulong Pabahay Program (TPP)
ASHI, through its balance sheet or using its access to available funding acquired the land for development. The Board 
of Trustees passed Resolution No.07-09-05 “Resolution to procure the 41,831 sq.m. lot located at Brgy, Bagong Silang, 
Molino, Bacoor, Cavite particularly for the relocation of members of Ahon Sa Hirap, Inc., living in danger zones, estereros 
and in private property with demolition order. That the continuing program of Tulong Pabahay will be subject to evaluation 
of the success of this project”.

It will identify all the beneficiaries from its membership who will be provided units in the development plan.
The “Assistance to Housing” or Tulong Pabahay Program- Molino Project is off- site project for Victims of  Demolition, 
living in danger zone,  affected by Government ordinance for south rail  Rehabilitation program in the cities of Muntinlupa, 
San Pedro and Calamba.  

The development plan made by ASHI through the formation of one Home Owners Association called VILLA MILA 
NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION who are also members of ASHI to be leaders who help develop the kind of 
community that will be built consistent with the objectives of ASHI and its vision to contribute to the eradication of 
poverty.

The plans have been presented to the membership for everyone’s appreciation and for consideration of specific needs that 
will have to be addressed. What will be planned will be a total community. The community that enhances value formation, 
where innovative programs for the environment, sanitation, clean and green projects will be undertaken through the Training 
Center and Ecological Park build inside the village.

The units will be allocated to the members at a rate affordable to them in partnership, with leading financing institutions 
providing housing loan to members who are primarily employed or duly registered business entity.  The Program allows each 
member a total amount of P300, 000 per household payable in 25 years.  This included site development and housing.  Where 
applicable, “sweat” equity can be supplied by the members and their families to even enhance the value of the dwelling that 
will be provided .The development will paved a way to organization of  community association by phase unde one Home 
Owners Assoication  each phase   will have a maximum membership of 150 organized to run the entire affected families.

The cost of the 4.3 hectares is estimated at P20.9 Million. If 70% of the land will be the area for residence/unit, 28,000 square 
meters will be available. With the theoretical allocation of 36 square meters per unit, some 600 units can be accommodated. 
An appropriation of P300,000 as the loan for each unit  under the socialized housing program.  The development of the 
utilities and services and road network will have to be cost-effective and take into account the ecological setting in the 
site. The design of the units should take advantage of economies which cluster housing can offer. Common facilities for 
community activities will be included. The project development can be done in stages to spread out the expenditure and 
capital outlay.

APRROOT Rebuilding Program  
In response to the need of ASHI Members whose houses were destroyed by Typhoon Ondoy in September 26, 2009, this 
project was launched in partnership with PEF-CORDAID who will provide the Loan Funds (as covered by ExCOM 
Resolution No. 10-07-001 for the construction of 167 houses using solidarity “Bayanihan” concept.  As for the land/site,in 
February 3, 2010 ASHI, through its President Mila G. Mercado-Bunker and Hon.Juanita Manzana- Municipal Mayor of 
Pangil signed a Memorandum of Agreement – for the Local Government Unit (LGU)of Pangil to provide the land as a 
relocation site situated in Brgy Balian, Pangil, Laguna beneficiaries were residents of Pangil living Metro east road and  those 
in coastal area. 
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The LGU will also help in the land development such as access road, water installation, electrification and other community 
facilities. 
 
Other non-current asset
Trust Fund for Retirement Benefit - The Board passed a resolution to place 5.5 million pesos to a restricted fund account for a 
period of 5 years as retirement benefit of qualified employees.  The increase in value of the fund is to be treated as an addition 
the fund.

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities include short and long term interest and non-interest bearing borrowings, member’s funds and other 
payables. Financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

Interest Payables
The company accrues interest on current and long term loans outstanding at balance sheet date interest of which ranges from 
2% to 12% per annum.

Loans Payables
Loans payables are liabilities to pay for funds borrowed for loaning capital or for operational expenses.  Loans payable are 
either interest or non-interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value. Loans measured initially at their nominal values 
and subsequently recognized at amortized costs less settlement payments.

Other Current Liabilities
Other Current Liabilities are inter-branch or office accounts, as well as government agency related remittances or statutory 
obligations. Other current liabilities are measured initially at their nominal values and subsequently recognized at amortized 
costs less settlement payments.
 
Fund Savings
ASHI designed per request of members only.

Savings account:
Personal Fund - is a voluntary saving as the amount is not fixed and can be withdrawn any time. ASHI gives an interest of 4 
% for the savings provided P500 is maintained and is posted every end of the year.

Compulsory Savings are:
Compulsory Fund - P5.00 per week, deposited every center meeting. It is a contribution to the Group Fund* as internally 
generated fund to be borrowed by members in times of need. This is can be withdrawn upon resignation or exit from the 
organization.

Loan Insurance Fund - P5.00 per week is contributed by the members to cover for the remaining loan outstanding balances 
for all types of loan of a member upon death. Should there be no loan outstanding upon death, the savings will be returned to 
the members. Loan Insurance Fund-originated from Kabalikat Fund which was a conversion of the Emergency Fund. This 
is a compulsory savings fund collected by the branch office from members, then being remitted to head office which serves 
as insurance premium coverage of unpaid loan balances specifically by reason of death of a member.
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Center Fund - The amount is fixed upon agreement by the centers per branch. This is used for all activities of the center i.e. 
center hall needs; General Assemblies, workshops etc. The branch acts as a custodian to the fund, but disbursements are 
decided by the center.

Damayan Fund – This fund, originally similar in nature to the Center Fund used to contribute to the family upon death 
of a member has been institutionalized in 2006 through a one-time Membership Fee of P250.00 for all ASHI Members.  
In April 01, 2010 ASHI has to modify its program to comply to government regulation as prescribed in the Insurance 
Memorandum Circular No. 9-2006 – Regulatory Framework for Microinsurance of the National Insurance Commission. 
ASHI partnered with Micro Ensure, an insurance intermediary to comply with such regulation, however, the partnership 
with Micro Ensure only covers those members with ages of 18 years old to 64 years old.  Thus ASHI has to still maintain 
its “self-administered” damayan program for Members with ages of 65 years old and above in partnership with St. Peter 
Life Plan for funeral benefit. A weekly compulsory contribution of P20.00 is made by the Member every attendance to 
the center meeting with or without loan. This fund is being remitted by the Branches to the Head Office. The Head Office 
administers the processing of claims and the release of benefits. When a Member exits from the institution and withdraws 
her membership fee or becomes in-active (have not attended the center meetings in 4 consecutive weeks) she can no longer 
avail of the prescribed benefits whether under the modified or the self administered program.  In cases wherein it has been 
proven with due process that a Member is also a member of other MFIs all her benefits are forfeited.

KMSB Kabalikat Micro-insurance Saving Benefit Fund - The deposit is fixed per options chosen by the member.  The option 
varies per benefit the member prefers. The fund is collected by the branch office and in turn, remits it to the head office. For 
those who took option 1 & 2 this is kept in restricted bank account that covers for a fixed death benefit of the member. For 
those who took option 3-4 that covers pension benefit and life insurance, the savings is being remitted by the head office to 
an insurance company (at present, Pacific Plans) representing premium coverage for a life insurance policy of the member.

Time Deposit: These are deposits that are withdrawn at a given time and given 6%p.a. interest rate provided P500 is maintained in 
the bank account. Interest is computed based on average daily balance, posted every year.

Children’s Fund - is a deposit voluntarily placed by a member for the education of her children.  This is restricted to 2 years 
by which she can earn 6% pa for the deposit.

Tulong Pabahay Program Fund – represents member’s deposit for the lot, This deposit is made on the basis of contract signed 
per lot allocation approximately for 36 sq meter per family.  Classified  as liability account under fund savings. This savings 
serves as the basis for the additional incentive for housing loan.

Financial Instruments
Date of Recognition
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the balance sheets when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments
All financial assets are initially recognized at fair value.
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Determination of Fair Value
For all other financial Instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determine by using appropriate valuation 
techniques.  Valuation Techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market 
observable prices exist, options pricing models, and other relevant valuation models.

Impairment of Financial Assets or Provisioning
The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
(an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
 
For loans and receivables, the Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If 
the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses for impairment.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by 
being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.  
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are 
not included in a collective assessment for impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 
that have not been incurred).  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account and the 
amount of loss is charged to the statement of operations. Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are 
written-off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery has been realized. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of 
the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any 
amounts formerly charged are credited to the “Other income” account.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of such credit risk 
characteristics as term and past-due status.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of 
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Company.  Historical loss experience 
is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on 
which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist 
currently.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Company 
to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
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Total Equity
Total Equity comprises donated equity and the Reserves/Net Surplus.  The Company uses the term “Fund Balance” for the 
equity account. Donated Equity represents capitalization of the company.  At December 31, this account is composed of:

Internal Sources:
Kabalikat  Membership Fee - is collected from members in two ways, either as one lump-sum payment of PHP100.00 or in 
installments until PHP 100.00 is completed. The fee is voluntary, after payment of which, the  payor becomes an official 
member of ASHI.  A member has to pay an annual due of PHP20.00 afterwards,

Salamat Fund - is contributed by members in the form of a deduction of 5% both from General Loan and Group Fund Loan 
on the date of the release of loans. In 2005 the said account has been reclassified as Revenues covering the years 2002 to 2005 
covered by Board Resolution No. 04-02-005. The remaining balance reflected as Donated Equity represents ending balance 
of December 31, 2001. Salamat Fund forms part of the Group Fund* (in relation to Compulsory Fund) where members can 
borrow in times of need, interest free. This fund remains as a form of gratuity and cannot be withdrawn if a member resigns 
from her membership to the organization.

External Sources:
Endowment Fund - donations received from a Funder for an institutional capacity building. This is an equity investment from 
external sources. The amount donated for the lot allocated for the training center is also classified under this account.

Reserves/Net Surplus represents the retained earnings/deficit, or accumulated earnings/losses of the company through the 
years, as a result of the business operations.

Revenue and Cost Recognition 
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
Company and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. When the outcome of a transaction involving the 
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction shall be recognized by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for 
services provided in the normal course of business.

Service and Administrative charges is recognized as the interest accrues (taking into account the effective yield on   •	
 the asset).

Grants and donations are recognized upon receipt of the funds.•	

Cost and administrative expenses are recognized in the statement of income upon utilization of the service or in the date 
they are incurred. Finance costs are reported on an accrual basis.
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Employees’ Compensation and Other Benefits
Short-term Benefits
The Company recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for services rendered by employees during 
the accounting period. Short-term benefits given by the Company to its employees include salaries and wages, social security 
contributions, Pag-ibig (HDMF)contributions, Philhealth contributions, paid vacation and sick leave, bonuses and other 
non-monetary benefits such as medical care and housing.

Loan Funds for Employees the company created loan funds to take care of the emergency needs of  employees.  These are:   

ASH Fund
The primary sources of which are donations from Board officers taken from their consultancy fees. Employees are allowed to 
loan from this fund, free of interest for needs related to death, health, medical and education.

Employee’s Loan and Savings Fund
Taken from employee’s semi-monthly contribution in the amount of PhP100.00. Loans from this fund bear an interest of 
10% for house repair and 20% for business purposes.  Interest earned on loan releases are being rolled-over as part of the 
fund for distribution to employees in the future.  Loan ceiling is being decided by the majority vote of employees themselves 
during annual planning and evaluation.

Staff Micro-Loans 
As of Balance Sheet date the primary source of this fund is from the credit line granted by Peoples Credit and Finance 
Corporation (PCFC) for all MFI Staff.  The Board approved draw downs from this line to be made available as loans to 
ASHI staff for housing construction and improvement.  The minimum amount of which is P150,000.00 per staff. Repayment 
of loans is through salary deduction on a short-term basis for a maximum period of 5 years, bearing an interest of 13% per 
annum, based on declining balance. 

Long-term Benefits
The Company provides retirement benefits to entitled employees equivalent to 30 days of salaries for every year of service 
per approved board resolution.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.
 
Income Taxes
The Company being a Non-stock, non-profit and non-government organization thus, is registered as exempt entity.

Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.  A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.  Operating 
lease payment are recognized as expense in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.          
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Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation, either legal or constructive, as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.  When the Company expects reimbursement of some or all of 
the expenditure required to settle a provision, the entity recognizes a separate asset for the reimbursement only when it is 
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received when the obligation is settled.

The amount of the provision recognized is the best estimated of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  When a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
flows. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Contingent liabilities 
and assets are not recognized because their existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. Contingent liabilities, if any, are disclosed, unless 
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets are disclosed only when 
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Events After the End of the Reporting Period
Post-year-end events up to the date of the auditor’s report that provide additional information about the Company’s position 
at the balance sheet date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements.  
Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to financial statements when material.

Related Party Disclosures  
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence 
over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  This includes: (1) individual owning, directly or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or under common control with, the Company; (2) associates; 
and (3) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Company that gives them significant 
influence over the Company and close members of the family of any such individual.

The key management personnel of the Company and post-employment benefit plans for the benefit of Company’s employees 
are also considered to be related parties.

The Company’s related parties include the Company’s Key Management.  The compensation of the key management 
personnel of the Company pertains to the usual monthly salaries and government mandated benefits, there are no other 
special benefits paid to management personnel.

3. Managements Significant Accounting Judgement and Estimates
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with Financial Reporting Framework (in reference 
to the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the Company’s financial statements and accompanying notes.  The estimates and assumptions used in 
the Company’s financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of the 
date of the Company’s financial statements.  Actual results could differ from such estimates.
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Judgments 
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with Financial Reporting Framework in reference 
to the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the Company’s financial statements and accompanying notes.  The estimates and assumptions used in 
the Company’s financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of the 
date of the Company’s financial statements.  Actual results could differ from such estimates, judgments and estimates are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Determining Functional Currency
Based i9n economic substance of underlying circumstances relevant to the company, the functional currency has been 
determined to be the Philippine Peso, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the company 
operates and is the currency that mainly influences the prices of the products and services and the cost of providing such 
products and services.

Repairs and Maintenance
Repairs and maintenance incurred by the company have not resulted in an increase in the future economic benefit of its 
property and equipment, therefore charged to operations.

Estimates
In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.The following 
represents a summary of the significant estimates and judgments and related impact and associated risks in the Company’s 
financial statements.

Estimation of Loan Loss Reserve
The Company maintains provisions for loan losses at a level considerable and adequate to provide potentially uncollectible 
receivables.  The level of this provisions is evaluated by management on the basis of factors that may affect the collectability of 
the receivables.  These factors include, but are not limited to, the length of the Company’s relationship with the Members, the 
Member’s payment behavior and known other known factors.  The Company reviews the age and status of receivables, and 
identifies accounts that are to be provided with reserves on a continuous basis. The amount and timing of recorded expenses 
for any period would therefore differ based on judgment or estimates made.

Estimated Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Company estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period over which the property, 
plant and equipment are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical 
or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the property, plant and equipment.  In addition, the 
estimation of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment is based on the collective assessment of industry practice, 
internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets.  
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It is possible; however, that future financial performance could be materially affected by changes in the estimates brought 
about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be 
affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and 
equipment would increase the recorded expenses and decrease the noncurrent assets. Depreciation is computed on a straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office equipment, furniture and fixtures    2-5 years
Transportation equipment    5-10 years
Buildings and Structures    10-20 years

The foregoing estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed from time to time to ensure that these are 
consistent with the expected economic benefits of the property and equipment.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The Company assesses the value of property, plant and equipment which require the determination of future cash flows 
expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets, and require the Company to make 
estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the financial statements. Future events could cause the Company to 
conclude that property, plant and equipment and other long-lived assets are impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could 
have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgment and estimations. While the Company 
believes that its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect 
the Company’s assessment of recoverable values and may lead to future additional impairment charges.

Revenue recognition
The Company’s foreign currency transactions on grants, donations and loans are recorded in their Philippine peso equivalent 
based on the exchange rate prevailing as of the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains or losses on account of the exchange 
rate fluctuations are recognized accordingly in the Statement of Revenues

Grants and Donations are recognized as income upon actual receipt from grantees and donors. Uncollected but earned 
interest income on loans to branches is accrued at the Balance Sheet date.

4. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The main purpose of the Company’s principal financial instruments is to fund its operational and capital expenditures.  
The Company’s risk management is coordinated and in close operation with the Board of Trustees, and focuses on actively 
securing the Company’s short to medium term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets.

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk and liquidity risk   The Company’s overall risk 
management program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company. The policies 
for managing specific risks are summarized below.
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Management of Financial Risk
Government Framework
The Company has established a risk management function with clear terms of reference and with the responsibility for 
developing policies on market, credit, liquidity and operational risk.  It also supports the effective implementation of policies. 
The policies define the Company’s identification of risk and its interpretation, limit structure to ensure the appropriate 
quality and diversification of assets to the corporate goals and specify reporting requirements.

Capital Management Framework
The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  The 
Company monitors the basis of the carrying amount of equity as presented on the face of the balance sheet.
The Company’s risk management function has developed and implemented certain minimum stress and scenario tests for 
identifying the risks to which the Company are exposed, quantifying their impact on the volatility of economic capital.  
The results of these tests, particularly, the anticipated impact on the realistic balance sheet and revenue account, are reported to 
the Company’s risk management function.  The risk management function then considers the aggregate impact of the overall 
capital requirement revealed by the stress testing to assess how much capital is needed to mitigate the risk of insolvency to 
a selected remote level.

Regulatory Framework
The operations of the Company is also subject to the regulatory requirements of SEC. Such regulations not only prescribe 
approval and monitoring of activities but also impose certain restrictive provisions.

Financial Risk
The Company is also exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial  liabilities. The most important 
components of this financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

Credit risk
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its  loans receivables,  The Company has adopted stringent procedure 
in extending credit terms to Members and in monitoring its credit risk. Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial 
instrument will fail to discharge and obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.  The Company manages the 
level of credit risk to Members by setting-up and implementing Provisions for Loan Losses and the Loan Insurance Fund 
and fully described under Member’s Fund. 
    
Provision for loan losses on all types of loan for 2009 onwards is set at 3% annually from 2% in 2008 and prior years 
annually based on outstanding balance at year-end  (December 31).  Standing policy of the company provides for write-
off of receivables which remains uncollected for four years from due date subject to the final decision of the Board and 
is to be covered by an appropriate Board Resolution.  Written-off loans, if collected, (recovered loans) is to be booked as 
miscellaneous income. In prior years, provision was applied to general loan only, now it is extended to all types of loan, 
following the principle of conservatism.

Losses of company properties due to theft were recognized as ordinary losses after satisfactorily determining that recovery 
of the items were not possible.
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The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 2010 and 2009 Statements of Financial 
Position.  The maximum exposure is shown gross, without taking into account collateral and other credit enhancement.

Gross Maximum Exposure
2009 2010

Cash and Cash Equivalent               90,308,559.27   66,987,251.97   
Receivables *             210,165,110.70 165,708,417.09    
Prepaid Rent/Utilities                    393,700.00        278,100.00    
TOTAL             300,867,369.97  232,973,769.06   

* Excludes Receivables from Company Employees (Staff Microloans). 

The company has no Petty Cash Fund and Cash On Hand as of December 31, 2010
The aging analysis of financial assets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 that were past due but not impaired are as follows:

Past Due But not Impaired
2010 Neither

Past  Due nor 31 to 9 91 to 180
Impaired days days Total

Cash and Cash 
Equivalent 90,308,559.27

Receivables 205,844,032.70 669,242.00 3,651,836.00 210,165,110.70
Prepaid Rent/Utilities 393,700.00

TOTAL 296,152,591.97 1,062,942.00 3,651,836.00 210,165,110.70

Past Due But not Impaired
2009 Neither

Past  Due nor 31 to 9 91 to 180
Impaired days days Total

Cash and Cash 
Equivalent 66,987,251.97

Receivables 161,826,555.96 127,898.25 3,753,962.88 165,708,417.09
Prepaid Rent/Utilities 278,100.00

TOTAL 228,813,807.93 405,998.25 3,753,962.88 165,708,417.09
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Liquidity Risk
Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated 
with financial instruments.  Liquidity risk may result from either the inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair 
values; or counterparty failing on repayment of contractual obligation; or inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.

The Company maintains adequate highly liquid assets in the form of cash and cash equivalents to assure necessary 
liquidity.

The Company manages liquidity through a liquidity risk policy which determines what constitutes liquidity risk for the 
Company; specifies minimum proportion of funds to meet emergency calls; setting up contingency funding plans;  specify 
the sources of funding and the vents that would trigger the plan;  concentration of funding sources;  reporting of liquidity 
risk exposures and breaches to the monitoring authority;  monitoring compliance with liquidity risk policy and review of 
liquidity risk policy for pertinence and changing environment.

2010  On Demand Due w/in 12 
months

Due after 12 
months TOTAL

Fund Savings 59,378,423.86 59,378,423.86
Trust Funds 6,462,867.90 6,462,867.90
Interest Payable 2,406,732.16 2,406,732.16
Loans Payable 95,236,399.50 112,796,605.57 208,033,005.07

68,248,032.92 95,236,399.50 112,796,605.57 269,818,161.09

2009  On Demand Due w/in 12 
months

Due after 12 
months TOTAL

Fund Savings 58,678,194.58 58,678,194.58
Trust Funds 5,156,695.93 5,156,695.93
Interest Payable 2,259,116.71 2,259,116.71
Loans Payable 62,526,732.42 88,470,508.85              150,997,241.27

63,834,890.51        64,785,849.13          88,470,508.85              217,091,248.49

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of change in fair value of financial instruments from fluctuation in foreign exchange rates (currency 
risks), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and market prices (price risk).

Fair Value Interest Rate Risk
The fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates.  The Company’s fixed rate investments and receivables in particular are exposed to such risk.

The Company’s market risk policy requires the management of interest rate risk by maintaining appropriate mix of fixed and 
variable rate instruments.  The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets and interest 
bearing financial liabilities. 
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5. Cash and Equivalents
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Revolving Fund P75,552.64 P0.00
Cash in Banks
(in 19 local banks) 72,105,686.49 40,004,344.47

Short term Placements 18,127,320.14 26,982,907.50
P 90,308,559.27 P 66,987,251.97

Cash in banks represents savings/current accounts in reputable local banks that earn interest at the respective bank deposit 
rates.  The Company reconciles the books and the bank balances regularly as part of its cash monitoring and internal control 
measures.  

Short-term placements are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Company, and earn interest at the respective short-term placements rates.

A reasonable amount of Petty Cash Fund is maintained to cover small payments not covered by checks, such as travel 
expenses, supplies, representations and other payments as defined by management not exceeding P500.00 per single payment.  
The fund is being closed at year-end for internal control purposes.

A Revolving Fund, particularly for the Head Office is also set-up to take care of program-based disbursement as well as 
travelling expense of HO personnel with branch monitoring/logistical support functions. It is also being closed at year-end 
for internal control purposes.

6. Receivables
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Loan Portfolio

General Loan 143,976,187.25 P113,750,517.75
Eduactional Loan 14,403,348.00 9,376,004.00
House Repair Loan 32,249,293.00 20,553,998.00
Tiangge/Market Day Loan 17,033.00 11,122.00
Enterprise Loan 2,368,380.69 914,525.87
Recovery Loan 1,775,867.35 4,565,119.50
Shield Loan 457,692.00 670,370.00
APRROOT  Rebuilding 1,740,769.00 0.00
Center Loan 318,497.78 335,517.00

197,307,068.07 150,177,214.12
Loan Loss Reserve (5,919,212.04) (4,505,316.42)

191,387,856.03 145,671,897.70
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2010 2009
Other Loan Portfolio:

Group Fund Loan 19,680,182.22 15,531,202.97
Staff Micro-Loans 10,417,402.60 11,662,585.31

30,097,584.82 27,193,788.28
Loan Loss Reserve (902,927.54) (815,813.68)

29,194,657.28 P26,377,974.60
TOTAL RECEIVABLES P220,582,513.30 P172,049,872.30

Loan Portfolio of Members is classified into two main categories:
 1) General Loan is the basic loan that a Member can avail of for micro business purposes.
 2) Incentive Loans covers Educational, House Repair and Market Day loan for which a Member can only avail of   
  after she has proven her credit worthiness for the general loan granted to her. 

Loan Portfolio generally have 25 to 100 week term except for Enterprise Loans to Members which are covered by Post-dated 
Checks, and Tiangge/Market Day Loans which are usually taken during the Christmas Season, town fiestas, All Saints Day, 
and other special days by Members who takes this business opportunity to earn more and the loan of which is repaid in full 
when the occasion is over. Other Loan Portfolio consists of Member’s loans out of their own funds with loan terms of 4 to 
12 weeks, while Staff Micro Loans are loans to deserving company employees with loan terms of 2 year to 5 years.

7. Other Current Asset
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Acounts Receivables 7,414,800.81 P  7,791,842.95       
Miscellaneous Advances  - Philhealth 939,313.00 10,360,780.00
Miscellaneous Advances  - Others 218,000.00 218,000.00
Loans to Employees 1,639,072.18 1,448,382.96
Prepayments 2,143,350.90 2,018,932.10
Advances to Officers and Employees 991,533.24 660,209.53

13,346,070.13 P 22,498,147.54

Accounts Receivables are non-interest bearing receivables.  It comprises accounts used by branches for amount advanced 
for training expenses of newly hired staff in favor of the head office.   Further, this also represents cash accommodations of 
one branch for another branch. Also, it represents cash accommodations for sickness/maternity benefits of staffs and other 
staff accountabilities.
 
Loans to Employees comprise loans taken from the ASH Funds which are non interest bearing and intended for medical or 
educational purposes, and from the ELF Funds which are interest bearing and intended for use in house repair/renovation/
construction, business loan, equipment loan of employees.
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Prepayments comprised of prepaid supplies for the cost of bulk printing of all accountable forms, prepaid rent for advance 
rental payments and deposits, prepaid utilities for telephone/electricity/water services and prepayments of insurance 
premiums.  

Advances to Officers and Employees comprise unliquidated cash advances for planned activities, purchases and other 
payments.  These should be liquidated within two weeks from the occurrence of the activity.

8. Property and Equipment
Property and Equipment consists of the following:

December 31, 
2009 Additions

(Disposal)/
Revaluation/

Reclassification

December 31, 
2010

Carrying Amount,  Beginning
Building and Structures 14,538,914.76 1,731,652.75 16,270,567.51
Office Equipment 7,549,823.88 1,304,065.50 1,739,559.89 7,114,329.49
Office Furniture and Others 1,932,882.87 217,412.28 208,515.52 1,769,379.63
Transportation Equipment 155,676.75 6,440.00 162,116.75
Branch Office Lot 82,349.10 82,349.10
Land 5,033,387.00 5,033,387.00

29,293,034.36 3,259,570.53 1,948,075.41 30,604,529.48
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Building and  Structures 8,453,155.76 730,612.41 9,183,768.17
Office Equipment 5,668,056.09 873,784.36 1,739,559.89 4,802,280.56
Office Furniture and Others 1,338,825.02 221,811.26 208,512.52 1,402,120.76
Transportation Equipment 150,562.42 3,147.77 153,710.19

15,610,599.29 1,829,355.80 1,948,075.41 15,541,879.68
Net Carrying Amount, End 13,682,435.07 15,062,649.80
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December 31, 
2008 Additions

(Disposal)/
Revaluation/

Reclassification

December 31, 
2009

Carrying Amount,  Beginning
Building and Structures 11,738,388.20 2,800,526.56 14,538,914.76
Office Equipment 6,887,413.73 784,877.13 1,739,559.89 7,549,823.88
Office Furniture and Others 1,767,223.65 174,369.22 208,515.52 1,932,882.87
Transportation Equipment 251,776.75 5,900.00 155,676.75
Branch Office Lot 82,349.10 82,349.10
Land 4,918,387.00 115,000.00 5,033,387.00

25,645,538.43 1,948,075.41 29,293,034.36
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Building and  Structures 8,150,000.00 303,155.76 8,453,155.76
Office Equipment 4,854,897.91 935,625.16 (122,466.98) 5,668,056.09
Office Furniture and Others 1,121,104.08 226,430.94 8,710.00) 1,338,825.02
Transportation Equipment 248,485.37 3,147.77 (102,000.00) 150,562.42

14,374,487.36 4,077.05 15,610,599.29
Net Carrying Amount, End 11,271,051.07 13,682,435.07
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The carrying values of the property and equipment approximate their fair values.

9. Other Receivables
Other Receivables consist of assets represents costs not limited to purchase of lot but to include taxes and fees for land 
conversion, capital gains and facilitation fees.  These were classified as “Other noncurrent assets” in the balance sheet. The 
details of Other Receivables are as follows:

2010 2009
Total Lot Cost - 41,831 sqm. Molino Bacoor, Cavite 21,765,304.18 P 20,914,999.92      
Taxes and Documentary Stamps Paid 1,549,695.74 1,549,695.74    
Site Development/Construction Cost 11,424,546.03 8,598,320.06
Engineer's Fee - Site Development Plan 67,500.00 67,500.00
Geodetic Engineer's Fee - Subdivision Plan 145,000.00 145,000.00
 TOTALS 34,952,045.95 P 31,275,515.72

In accordance with Section 11, subsequent to initial recognition of financial assets at their fair values, the Company should 
continue to measure such financial assets at fair value. Other Receivables are stated at their fair values.
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10. Other Non-Current Assets
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Trust Fund for Retirement Benefit P7,873,953.59 P  6,722,354.70
APRROOT Rebuilding Program 2,865,137.92 0.00
PLDT Subscibers Plan 10,500.00 10,500.00  
TOTALS P10,749,591.51 P 6,732,854.70

11. Interest and Loans Payable
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Ineterest Payable  - Others
Peoples Credit & Finance 
Corporation P 2,260,156.81 P 1,931,727.58

CORDAID 0.00 327,389.13
Peace and Equity 
Foundation 146,575.34

P 2,406,732.16 P 2,259,116.71
Current Long term Current Long term

Loans Payable - Others
Peoples Credit & Finance 
Corporation P85,173,903.28 P102,796,605.57 P 43,481,312.65 P88,470,508.85

CORDAID 0.00 0.00 10,912,971.00
Peace and Equity 
Foundation 0.00 10,000,000.00

Generoso G. Octavio 55,000.00 55,000.00
Fr. Raymon D. Bodson, 
CICM 180,000.00 180,000.00

KIVA 9,827,496.22 7,897,448.77
P95,236,399.50 P112,796,605.57 P 62,526,732.42 P88,470,508.85

Loan payables generally have a 4 year term with Interest rates of 0% to 12% p.a and were taken by the company for loaning 
capital. 
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12. Fund Savings
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Compulsary Fund 21,632,483.50 P 18,659,845.50
Loan Insurance Fund 21,122,005.42 17,882,726.00
Personal Fund 1,771,128.50 1,921,901.75
Childrens Fund 805,833.08 761,728.44
Center Fund 679,124.20 791,299.45
KMSB Fund 412,065.30 400,968.50
Damayan Fund 3,897,157.95 964,491.95
Philhealth Fund 0.00 8,699,311.00
TPP Fund 9,058,625.91 8,595,921.99

59,378,423.86 P  58,678,194.58

13. Other Current Liabilities
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Accounts Payable 1,601,485.30 P 2,484,495.94
Advances from Officers and 
Employees 53,602.71 0.00

SSS/MCR?EC Premium Payable (6,001.25) 0.00
HDMF Premiums Payable 1,000.00 0.00
With holding Tax Payable 14,771.94 18,686.95
SSS/HMDF Loans Payable (40,530.07) 0.00
Employee Loans 3,381,407.65 3,148,579.66
TPP - Construction Management  
Team Savings 5,100.00 27,050.00

Trust Funds Payable 6,462,867.90 5,156,695.93
11,473,704.18 P   10,835,508.48
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Donated Equity Reserves
2010 2009

Kabalikat Membership Fees/Annual Fees
Balance, Beginning of year 808,136.50 P  733.572.50
Additions During the year 219,115.00 74,564.00
Balance, end of year 1,027,251.50 P  808,136.50

Endownment Fund
Balance, Beginning of year 8,178,270.75 P  8,178,270.75
Additions During the year 23,500.00 0.00
Balance, end of year 8,201,770.75 P  8,178,270.75

Salamat Fund 9,635,516.45 P  9,635,616.45
Reserves/Net Surplus

Balance, Beginning of year 71,833,992.56 P  66,304,222.72
Prior Period Adjustments 120.21 (3,304,492.75)
Current Year’s Net Income 13,010,813.23 8,834,262.59

Balance, end of year 84,844,926.00 P  71,833,992.56
TOTAL EQUITY 103,709,564.70 P  90,456,016.26

14. Related Party Transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over 
the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Significant transactions with related parties are as follows: 
 
 a. Interest bearing borrowings of Loaning Capital and Operational Funds from Head Office by the branches.
 b. Non-interest bearing intercompany advances and reimbursement of expenses

2010 2009
Intercompany Loans

Interests 31,434,385.75 P  29,055,677.99
Operational Funds w/ 3% Interest p.a. 32,574,720.91 28,565,368.88
Loans Funds w/ 12% Interest p.a. 60,388,048.62 46,701,798.13

124,397,155.28 P  104,322,845.00

15. Financial Income
This accounts consisys of:

2010 2009
Service and Administrative Charges – Loan 69,158,495.63 P  55,455,890.00
Bank Interest on Deposits 508,256.09 316,160.19
 Total 69,666,751.72 P  55,772,050.19
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16. Financial Expenses
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Interest on Loans from Others 15,577,733.60 P12,791,214.11
Interest on Client Savings 28,922.79 0.00
Other Financing Costs 2,068,854.56 1,402,991.62
Bank Charges and Fees 20,162.76 19,053.11
Foreign Currency Adjustments 1,203,346.72 (55,419.57)
Losses Due to Theft 0 14,163.77
Interest Losses On Loans 0 12,888.00
Loan Loss Provisions 1,501,129.65 2,336,960.87

20,400,150.09 P 16,521,851.91

17. Other Income
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Increase in Value of Trust Fund for 
Retirement 1,151,598.89 P1,222,354.70

PLDT Dividend 700.00 700.00
Training and Exposure Fees 0.00 174,814.77
Honorarium 0.00 5,000.00
Miscellaneous Income 617,968.91 261,203.00
Total 1,770,267.80 P1,664,072.47

18. Administrative Expenses
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Office Supplies 1,879,810.41 P1,612,089.29
Telephone, Fax and Internet 1,039,570.19 1,070,686.46
Postage and Delivery 39,395.53 28,533.12
Forms and Documentation 1,385,492.69 1,077,201.75
Rent Expense 1,627,395.40 1,514,174.00
Utilities Expense 1,520,984.94 1,223,431.59
Security Services Expenses 165,525.00 100,800.00
Maintenance and Cleaning 615,623.34 565,920.36

8,273,797.50 7,192,836.57
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2010 2009
Air/Boat Fare 114,720.28 171,110.40
Land Transportation 3,411,633.82 3,077,689.79
Gas and Oil 226,214.27 190,316.01
Lodgings and Accommodations 520.00 2,086.98
Meals and Incidentals 886,331.12 726,930.04

4,639,419.49 4,168,133.22
Taxes and Licences 243,229.54 180,298.99
Professional and Consultancy Fees 0.00 0.00
Honoraria/Per Diem 46,719.00 7,435.00
Building Insurance 33,010.88 33,010.88
Auditing and Accounting Fees 45,000.00 100,498.85
Notarial and Documentary Stamps 503,540.00 371,960.00
Subscriptions 25,523.00 66,240.00
Contributions and Donations 562,684.21 149,809.50
Meetings and Representation 2,799,482.55 2,189,594.47

4,298,141.18 3,098,847.69
Total Administrative Expenses 17,211,358.17 14,459,817.48

19. Rental/Depreciation and Maintenance
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Equipment Maintenance 203,314.00 P  226,365.70
Depreciation:

Buildings and Structures 730,612.41 P 303,155.76
Office Equipments 873,784.36 935,625.16
Office Furniture’s and Others 221,811.26 226,430.94
Transportation Equipment 3,147.77 4,077.05

1,829,355.80 P 1,469,288.91
Total 2,032,669.80 P 1,695,654.61
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20. Program Expenses
This account consists of:

2010 2009
Anniversary/GAM Expenses 485,867.99 P  823,212.45
Planning and Evaluation Expenses 627,368.88 371,832.94
Member’s Micro Enterprise Trainings and  Workshops 1,762,381.99 736,468.44
Books and Publications 23,195.00 168,540.00
Gifts and Giveaways 438,494.00 425,829.93
Micro-credit Program Development 188,342.75 145,486.65
Networking Dues and Fees 2,300.00 0.00
Networking Meetings and Meals 393,025.33 1,028,661.20
Tulong Pabahay Program Expense 545,015.20 586,926.50
Advertisements and Promotions 1,800.00 4,000.00
Competency Based Training 1,515,970.24 1,648,036.56
Continuing Education 0.00 4,167.25
Total 5,983,761.38 P 5,943,161.92

21. Lease Agreements
Generally, the lease agreements entered into by the Company (LESSEE) are the buildings, apartments, one or two-storey 
residential houses for its 20 existing branch Offices.  The Head Office in Cubao, Quezon City, the Regional Training 
Center in San Jose, Antique and the Rizal south Branch Office in Talim Island, Binangonan, Rizal are fully-owned by the 
Company.

The following are the general terms of agreement in the lease contracts:

a) Terms of Lease
The lease period will be from two (2) to five (5) years commencing from date of occupancy.   It is mutually agreed that the 
lease may be renewed under such terms and conditions as the parties may agree upon, provided, that the LESSEE shall notify 
the LESSOR in writing of its intention to renew the lease at least ninety (90) days before the expiration of the contract.

b) Rentals
For the use and occupancy of the housing unit the LESSEE shall pay a monthly rental of ranging from Five (P5,000.00) 
to Twelve (P12,000.00) Thousand pesos Philippine currency (P5,000.00) payable on or before the fifth (5th) day of each 
month.  There shall be no increase for two (2) years.  The increase on the monthly rental to be paid by the LESSEE for the 
third year is 5%.  Any change in percentage of increase thereafter, shall be subject to discussion and mutual agreement by 
both parties.

c) Advance Rentals
Upon signing of the lease contract, the LESSEE shall advance the amount equivalent to two (2)  months deposit and one 
(1) month advance rental.

87    ASHI ANNUAL REPORT 2010



In the event that the LESSEE, with prior written notice to the LESSOR, terminates the lease before the end of the 5 year 
period the LESSOR shall return to the LESSEE any advance rentals and security deposits so far paid corresponding to the 
lease less any charges which the LESSEE owes the LESSOR.

d) Conditioned of  Leased Premises, Maintenance
The LESSEE acknowledges that the housing unit is in good, safe and sanitary condition and suitable for its use  •	

  and purpose, and agrees to keep the same in such good, safe and sanitary condition.
The LESSEE shall be responsible for the ordinary repair and maintenance of the premises at its own expense.   •	

 Ordinary repair and maintenance includes but is not limited to: repair and maintenance of water outlet faucets, of  
 doors and screen doors, of windows and window screens.

The LESSOR shall be responsible for the necessary major repairs and maintenance of the roof, including termite  •	
 treatment.

e) Use of Premises
The LESSEE shall not introduce any permanent improvements or alter the physical appearance of the leased premises 
without the previous written consent of the LESSOR.  Any improvements made with the consent of the LESSOR shall, 
upon completion, form an integral part of the leased premises and shall not be removed at the termination of the lease.  
Furniture and fixtures, and other movable items can be arranged or removed without destroying the leased premises by the 
LESSEE at the termination of the lease.

The LESSEE shall be responsible for any damage caused to the leased premises or building due to the willful act(s) or 
negligence of its officers, employees, agent or any person under its direction and control.

f ) Billboards and Signs
The LESSEE may install a signboard as an advertisement of its business being operated in the leased premises.

g) Transfer of Lessees Right, Assignment or Sublease 
The housing unit and its premises will be used as the office of the LESSEE, and cannot be leased or subleased as a whole 
or in parts for other purposes.  The LESSEE agrees not to directly or indirectly sublease, assign or transfer or encumber 
or otherwise dispose of its rights of lease over the whole or part of the lease property without prior written consent of the 
LESSOR and any such assignment, transfer or sublease shall be invalid and of no binding force whatsoever.

h) Utilities
All water, telephone, electric and other utilities used and/or consumed in the leased premises shall be for the account of the 
LESSEE.  All expenses for the installation, connection, maintenance and repair of such utilities shall be for the LESSEE’S 
account.

Expenses for repair and replacement parts (ballast, bulbs, etc.) of the system that lights up the leased premises shall be borne 
by the LESSEE.

i) Right of lessor to Enter the Leased Premises
The LESSOR has the right at any time, with notice to the LESSEE, to enter and inspect the premises and do what it 
considers necessary to prevent loss/damage to life and property.
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j) Disposition of the Leased Permises
Nothing herein contained prevents the LESSOR from selling, mortgaging, assigning or otherwise disposing of the leased 
premises to another person/s or entity/ies.  In the even of sale, mortgage, assignment or transfer of the leased premises, the 
buyer, mortgagee, assignee or transferee shall be bound by and respect the provisions of this contract.

k) Payment of Taxes
The LESSOR shall be responsible for the payment of real property taxes including the monthly or annual income taxes 
derived from the leased premises.  The monthly rental is inclusive of all income taxes due to the government and its 
agencies.

l) Breach of Lease Conditions
Breach or violation by the LESSEE of conditions and stipulations of this agreement shall entitle the LESSOR to cancel or 
terminate the lease.  The LESSEE further agrees that in such event, he shall forfeit the entire security deposit as penalty for 
such breach or violation.

24.  Supplementary Information  (In compliance with Revenue Regulation 15-2010)
On November 15, 2010, the Bureau of Internal Revenue issued RR15-2010 which prescribed additional procedural and/
or documentary requirements in connection with the preparation and submission of financial statements accompanying tax 
returns.

Date Paid Amount
a. Amount of VAT output tax declared during the year Zero rated sales/
receipts and or exempt sales/receipts.  The company is a non stock non profit 
organization and is a non VAT entity.

N/A N/A

b. The company is a non stock non profit organization and is a non VAT 
entity.  Input taxes passed by suppliers were treated as part of cost of items 
(goods and services) purchased.

N/A N/A

c.  Landed cost of imports and the amount of customs duties and tariff fees 
paid or accrued thereon N/A N/A

d.  Amount of excise tax paid N/A N/A
e.  Documentary Stamp Tax(DST) on Loan Instruments and other 
transactions subject there on Various 503,540.00

f.  All other taxes, local and national, licenses and permit fees lodged under 
the Taxes and licenses account (Note 20) Various 243,229.54

g.  Real Property Taxes Various 38,952.00
h.  Amount of Withholding Taxes
     Tax on compensation and Benefits
     Creditable Withholding Taxes

Various
Various

1,343,017.15
3,900.00

i. Periods covered and amount/s of deficiency assessments None None
j.  Tax cases and amounts involved under preliminary investigation involved 
litigation and or prosecution in courts or bodies outside BIR None None

Taxes and licenses include local and other fees.
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25. Grants and Donations
The Company had received funds as follows: 

2010 2009
GRANTS

TRIAS In Euros 51,784.00 P2,979,287.99 P5,029,157.35
Force of Nature In US Dollars 40,000.00 1,880,000.00
Little Brothers of  Jesus 1,413,000.00
CORDAID - APRROOT

(Net) In US Dollars 1,397.05 258,701.82 357,863.99
Explore Program In US Dollars 1,936.97 0.00 91,572.15
CICM

Total P5,117,989.81 P6,891,593.49

Grants received in foreign currencies are valued at the exchange rates at the time of receipt of the funds.  Grants are utilized 
in accordance with the terms and conditions set by the Grantors.  These are given to the Company to fund programs and 
activities, objective of which is to alleviate poverty in the chosen or qualified areas for which the Company operates. 

Donations are insignificant amounts received from various donors amounting to 589,505.10 and 435,957.71 for 2010 and 
2009 respectively.

Salamat Fund which is classified as donations to equity amounts to 16,608,406.50 and 13,331,174.92 in 2010 and 2009 
respectively.

26. Financial Instruments
Set out below is a comparison by category of the carrying values and fair values of all the Company’s Financial 
instruments: 

2010 2009
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalent 90,308,559.27 90,308,559.27 P66,987,251.97 P66,987,251.97
Receivable 220,582,513.30 220,582,513.30 165,708,417.09 165,708,417.09
Prepaid Rent/Utilities 393,700.00 393,700.00 278,100.00 278,100.00
Other Receivables 34,952,045.95 34,952,045.95 31,275,515.72 31,275,515.72
Other Non-Current Assets 10,749,591.51 10,749,591.51 6,732,854.70 6,732,854.70

356,986,410.03 356,986,410.03 P270,982,139.48 P270,982,139.48
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2010 2009
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial Liabilities
Interest Payable - Others 2,406,732.16 2,406,732.16 2,259,116.71 2,259,116.71
Loans Payable - Others 
(Current) 95,236,399.50 95,236,399.50 62,526,732.42 62,526,732.42

Fund Savings 59,378,423.86 59,378,423.86 58,678,194.58 58,678,194.58
Trust Funds Payable 6,462,867.90 6,462,867.90 5,156,695.93 5,156,695.93
Loans payable - Others
(Long Term) 112,796,605.57 112,796,605.57 88,470,508.85 88,470,508.85

276,281,028.99 276,281,028.99 P217,091,248.49 P217,091,248.49

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Receivables, Other Current Assets, Other Receivables, Other Non-Current Assets, Interest 
Payables, and Other Current Liabilities Due to the nature of these financial instruments, their fair values approximate the 
carrying amounts as of balance sheet date.

Loans Payable 
The fair values are determined based on the interest rates for which the loans were taken.   

Other Current Assets are Accounts Receivable accounts used by branches for amount advanced for training expenses of 
newly hired staff in favor of the head office.  Further, this also represents cash accommodations of one branch for another 
branch.  Also, it represents cash accommodations for sickness/maternity benefits of staffs and other staff accountabilities.  
This account also includes Advances for Company’s  expenses as well as prepayments. These are non-interest bearing and are  
liquidated/collected within the 12-month period.

Ratios
ASHI’s financial performance is measured two ways. One is Operational Self   Sufficiency (OSS) or their ability to cover 
expenses with revenues; second is their ability to earn surplus, which they call Financial Self Sufficiency (FSS). 

ASHI SELF SUFFICIENCY
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Operational Self Sufficiency
This is good news for ASHI can now cover our cost with our income. The healthy portfolio resulting from restoration 
process, the hard work of the staff in maintaining good center maintenance reaped good results int eh last 5  years.

Financial Self Sufficincy
Likewise the increasing rate of solvency and liquidity of ASHI is growing and we should be ready to saturate and expand to 
reach more women with the experience we have in managing our portfolio and bring the values to solidarity to every part 
of our area of operations.    

Here, financial sustainability of ASHI implies its ability to generate its own fund (from surplus or income) for the credit 
program used by its borrowers to develop and engage in the activities required to increase their income.

ASHI identifies two factors affecting FSS: outreach to more and good members in their areas of operation; and loans 
disbursed (increasing loan disbursement is a good indicator for growth and sustainability). But this will require higher 
monitoring cost to maintain a good repayment performance.

ASHI FINANCIAL PROGRESS
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Mila Mercado-Bunker
President

(April 2010 - April 2012)

Mercedes Abad
Chairwoman of the Board
(April 2009 - April 2011 )

B OARD OF T RU ST EES

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Ma. Wivina De Vera
Treasurer

(April 2009 - April 2012 )

Jaime Hofileña
Secretary

(April 2009 - April 2011 )

Rodolfo Alcazar
Auditor

(April 2009 - April 2011 )

Louis Laudecia
Member

(April 2009 - April 2012 )
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MEMBERS REPRESENTATIVE TO THE BOARD 

MEM B ER REP RESEN TAT IVE TO T H E BOARD

Marianne Marzoña
Antique

Rodelia Mateo
Laguna

Ma. Vicenta  Era
Rizal

Enriquita Listana
South Metro Manila
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HEAD OFFICE
Audit and Finance

Ofelia Guevarra
Finance Manager

Olivia Madriaga
Internal Auditor - Rizal Area

Wilbur Bay-Aken
Internal Auditor - South Metro Manila Area

Angel Dorado
Internal Auditor - Laguna Area

Jocel Dalisay
Internal Auditor - Antique Area

Accounting

Vivian Bautista
Accounts Officer

Administration

Florencia Batayola
Administrative Assistant

Personnel and Training

Victoria Claverol
Personnel Officer

Hilda Custodio
Liaison Officer

Information and Technology

Constantine Ruelos
I & T Department Head

Rio Santiago
Technical Staff - South Metro Manila Area

Marites Alejo
Technical Staff - Rizal Area

Salvador Fainsan
Technical Staff - Laguna Area

Domingo Salomon, Jr.
Technical Staff - Antique Area

Ryan Condez
KIVA Coordinator

LUZON
SOUTH METRO MANILA AREA
Metro South Branch

Nolie Libang
Branch Manager

Airen Rogel
Accounts Officer

Mary Jane Aguillon
Development Officer

Ginalyn Mosende
Development Officer

Ditchie Marie Mabaquiao
Development Officer

Maria Hayna Soyoso
Development Officer

Metro San Pedro Branch

Frenzie Agasan
Branch Manager

Brian Verdadero
Accounts Officer

Maricris Leron
Development Officer

Janice Frias
Development Officer

Bryan Dimayuga
Development Officer

Jennefer La Vega
Development Officer

Metro Bacoor Branch

Samantha Lee de Leon
Branch Manager

Judy Dimamay
Accounts Officer

Ma. Cecile Bola
Development Officer

Catherine Lameyra
Development Officer

April Padua
Development Officer

Member’s Desk
Herminia Añago
Curriculum Development Manager

Estrella Sudario
Quality Membership Team - South Metro 
Manila Area

Rowena Masongsong
Quality  Membership Team - Rizal Area

Mila Comendador
Quality Membership Team - Laguna Area

Glessie Sapul
Quality Membership Team - Antique Area

Josephine Almores
Quality Membership Team - Antique Area

Operation

Jose Jessie Arzaga
GB Operation Manager

Magdalena Santiago
Area Manager - South Metro Manila

Yolly Garcia
Area Manager - Rizal

Ronnie Galicia 
Area Manager - Laguna

Jimmy Ramos
Area Manager - Antique

Social Networking

Deserie Goto 
Social Protection Officer - Luzon

Laarni Aquino 
Social Protection Officer - Visayas

Carlito del Mundo
Micro Enterprise Officer

Eugene Diares
TPP Manager

ASH I P EO P LE &  BRANCH ES
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Metro Southwest Branch

Maricel Dolz
Branch Manager
Ma. Liezel Sanchez
Accounts Officer

Chester Ramos
Development Officer

Riza Dee Escaro
Development Officer

Jumalyn Vargas
Development Officer

RIZAL AREA
Rizal East Branch

Jimmy Espiritu
Branch Manager

Leah Aparente
Accounts Officer

Ma. Eloisa Eliseo
Development Officer

Dinah Duaman
Development Officer

Janice Paunil
Development Officer

Emmalyn San Juan
Development Officer

Lorelie Asir
Development Officer

Jesusan Santiago
Development Officer

Rizal Central Branch

Elvira Fainsan
Branch Manager

Claribel Austria
Accounts Officer

Susan Gutierrez
Development Officer

Mary Jean Reyes
Development Officer

Virsel Dionio
Development Officer

Ronalyn Sorilla
Development Officer

Tyrone Clataro
Development Officer

Rizal Southwest Branch
Francisca Ruedas
Branch Manager

Arlene Gondraneos
Accounts Officer

Librada Año
Development Officer

Felipe Caisip, Jr.
Development Officer

Mary Ann Ruelos
Development Officer

Ofalyn Silva
Development Officer

Homer Monreal
Development Officer

Rizal South Branch

Philip Paller
Branch Manager

Gilacio  Nasayao, Jr.
Accounts Officer

Loida Etajan
Development Officer

Randy Fernandes
Development Officer

Leah Paralejas
Development Officer

Leenie Lou Dimamay
Development Officer

Bernie Montaño
Development Officer

Rizal West Branch

Mary Joy Caisip
Branch Manager

Maribel Alim
Accounts Officer

Eloisa Perales
Development Officer

Lester Ojeda
Development Officer

Philipp Matienzo
Development Officer

Maria Donnalhex Leynes
Development Officer

Charisa Marfil
Development Officer

Rizal Metro East Branch

Rosita Bernardo
Branch Manager

Ma. Esther Suriaga
Development Officer

Dazzle Grace Tabaque
Development Officer

LAGUNA AREA
Laguna East Branch
Joey Panesa
Branch Manager

Marilou Dimayuga
Accounts Officer

Jeffrey Aris
Development Officer

Christina Banoca
Development Officer

Maricel Abuacan
Development Officer

Dennis Viscayno
Development Officer

Brenda dela Fuente
Development Officer

Edralyn Esclavilla
Development Officer

Laguna South Branch

Ricky Libang
Branch Manager

Mark Anthony Espallardo
Accounts Officer

Mia Ladisla
Development Officer

Damian Alim
Development Officer

Mary Grace Urriza
Development Officer

Jeffrey Dianon
Development Officer
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Antique Southwest Branch

Regina Sangat
Branch Manager

Josephine Salazar
Accounts Officer

Leah Ortega
Development Officer

Charmane Francisco
Development Officer

Jeanette Ballad
Development Officer

Naneth Sandoval
Development Officer

Hugh Alojado
Development Officer

Antique Southeast Branch

Angelina Javier
Branch Manager

Julie Ann Aldea
Accounts Officer

Crispulo Alcantara
Development Officer

Ruby Urbina
Development Officer

Mary Emmellaine Robles
Development Officer

Antique Central Branch

Rodsan Viyo
Branch Manager

Giselle Berin
Accounts Officer

Rosemarie Alvarado
Development Officer

Stephen Cala-or
Development Officer

Clarette Flor Tuazon
Development Officer

Naneth Sandoval
Development Officer

Laguna Central Branch

Rosemarie Maray
Branch Manager

Rosemarie Dizon
Accounts Officer 

Geraldine Santos
Development Officer

Janice Beltran
Development Officer

Joy Sanggat
Development Officer

Dionisio Bermas
Development Officer

Jenny Bermudez
Development Officer

Laguna Northeast Branch

Bayani Masicat, Jr.
Branch Manager

Leah Rodrigo
Accounts Officer

Almira Asajar
Development Officer
Aristeo Alojado
Development Officer

Eddie Palero
Development Officer

Ma. Victoria Flandez
Development Officer

Laguna West Branch

Allan Tanyag
Branch Manager

Laarnie Baladiang
Accounts Officer

Aaron Blanco
Development Officer

Ma. Bernadette Manalo
Development Officer

Hanna Quimpo
Development Officer

VISAYAS
ANTIQUE AREA
Antique South Branch
Elizabeth Diana
Branch Manager

Yolanda Abong
Accounts Officer

Edmon Melayo
Development Officer

Ronamie Galang
Development Officer

Claire Pingoy
Development Officer

Raquel Casidsid
Development Officer

Antique North Branch

Rafel Bogoy
Branch Manager

Roselyn Montero
Accounts Officer

Jona Pingoy
Development Officer

Phoebe Lyn Superio
Development Officer

Sharon Nallos
Development Officer

Arnolfo Pan
Development Officer

Antique Northwest Branch

Peter Alising
Branch Manager

Fanny Lanelle Pingoy
Accounts Officer

Melanie Quanico
Development Officer

Ronald Alolod
Development Officer

Agustin Mendoza
Development Officer
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HEAD OFFICE
#76 8th Avenue, Cubao Quezon City
Tel. No. (02) 913-2452

BRANCHES
LUZON
SOUTH METRO MANILA AREA
Metro South Branch
2750 A. Liwayway St., Bruger Subd., Putatan, 
Muntinlupa City
Tel. No. (02) 861-2657

Metro San Pedro Branch
Rizal St., Brgy. Poblacion, San Pedro, Laguna
Tel. No. (02) 808-7131

Metro Bacoor Branch
Bacoor, Cavite
Tel. No. 0917-553-4172

Metro Southwest Branch
No. 117 Limcaoco St., Brgy. Uno, Cabuyao, Laguna
Tel. No. 0917-553-4174

RIZAL AREA
Rizal Central Branch
No. 619, J. Pascual St., Brgy. San Pedro, 
Morong, Rizal
Tel. No. (02) 691-5849

Rizal East Branch
Penaranda St., Plaza Aldea, Tanay, Rizal
Tel. No. (02) 654-5664

Rizal Southwest Branch
Mejorada St., Dalig, Binangonan, Rizal
Tel. No. (02) 401-4604

Rizal West Branch
Sitio San Lorenzo, Brgy. Dalig, Antipolo City
Tel. No. (02) 401-0302

Rizal South Branch
Brgy. Janosa, Talim Island, Binangonan, Rizal
Tel. No. 0917-553-4171

Rizal Metroeast Branch
Unit 5, Luigin Apt., El Monteverde Subd., San Juan, 
Taytay, Rizal
Tel. No. 0917-862-6748

LAGUNA AREA
Laguna Central Branch
#220 Nattional Road, Brgy. Callios, Sta. Cruz, 
Laguna
Tel. No. 0917-862-6744

Laguna East Branch
No. 036 Brgy. 1 Mendiola, Siniloan, Laguna
Tel. No. (046) 813-1165

Laguna Northeast Branch
Pangil, Laguna
Tel. No. 0917-862-6743

Laguna South Branch 
Carbern Subd., Brgy. Anos, Los Baños, Laguna
Tel. No. 0917-862-6745

Laguna West Branch
Springhomes Subd., Brgy. Bucal, Calamba City
Tel. No. 0917-553-4170

VISAYAS
ANTIQUE AREA
Antique Central Branch
Ilaya, Bugasong, Antique
Tel. No. 0917-553-4173

Antique North Branch
Alpas St., Centro Poblacion, Culasi, Antique
Tel. No. (036) 277-8339

Antique Northwest Branch
Zaldivar, Pandan, Antique
Tel. No. (036) 278-9789

Antique South Branch
Ricardo St., (Motorpool) Bantayan, San Jose, 
Antique
Tel. No. (036) 540-9777

Antique Southeast Branch
Villavert St., Dist. 111, Sibalom, Antique
Tel. No. 0917-862-6746

Antique Southwest Branch
Poblacion 3, Hamtic, Antique
Tel. No. 0917-553-4166
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AB O U T T H IS REP O RT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Sustainability reporting is a living process and tool, and does not begin or end with a printed or online publication. Reporting 
should fit into a broader process for setting organizational strategy, implementing action plans, and assessing outcomes. 
Reporting enables a robust assessment of the organization’s performance, and can support continuous improvement in 
performance over time. It also serves as a tool for engaging with stakeholders and securing useful input to organizational 
processes .

ASHI has prepared this first integrated annual report based upon its professional evaluation of its performance in 2010. The 
structure of the report builds upon ASHI’s mission, vision, and activities.In this report we introduce reporting against the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Reporting Framework , in 2010 starting with the most feasible and practical topics first 
while we plan to phase in reporting on other topics over time. The scope of this report includes all microfinance activities of 
Ahon Sa Hirap, Inc in The Philippines.  Referring to GRI guidelines 

Based on our own assessment of the report content against the criteria in the GRI Application Levels, we declare to report 
up to GRI Application Level C. In the overview below (see next page), please find which elements of the GRI Reporting 
Framework have been applied in the preparation of this report under “C”. The reporting criteria found in each level reflects 
an increasing application or coverage of the GRI Reporting Framework. 

In addition to reporting against the GRI Reporting Framework, ASHI also reports on its social performance to MIX 
(Microfinance Information exchange).  Since 2005, the global, industry-wide Social Performance Task Force has focused 
on developing ways to measure social performance in microfinance. One of the achievements of this initiative has been 
the creation of social performance indicators to assess how an MFI aligns its systems to its mission and how it uses social 
performance information to reach its social goals. ASHI has reported to MIX since 2008. 
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GRI

Indicator Page Indicator Page

Vision and Strategy Governance
1.1 Statement of sustainable developmet 1 4.1 Governance Structure 53

4.2 Management Structure 48
Corporate Profile 4.3 Independence 53
2.1 Name Cover 4.4 Shareholders recommendations _
2.2 Principal Activities 9 4.5 Oversight 53
2.3 Structure 48 4.6 Stakeholders groups 10
2.4 Location of  Head Quarters Cover 4.7 Identification of stakeholders 10
2.5 Country Cover
2.6 Ownership and Legal Form Cover Economic Performance
2.7 Markets served 10 EC3 Defined Benefit Plans 47
2.8 Key Figures 17 EC7 Local Hiring 41
2.9 Shareholders Cover EC9 Indirect Economic Impact 16
2.10 Awards received 15

Environment Performance
Reporting Parameters EN22 Waste Production 43
3.1 Reporting Period 99
3.2 Date of most recent report 99 Social Performance
3.3 Reporting Cycle 99 LA10 Staff Training 53
3.4 Contact point Cover LA12 Career Development 47
3.5 Defining report content process 99 LA13 Governance Representation 53
3.6 Boundary _ LA 15 Staff Retention 47
3.7 Statement of reporting limitations _ SO1 Community Engagement 51
3.8 Re-Statements _ SO5 Public Publicy and Lobbying 10
3.9 Significany changes _ PR8 Customer Privacy 10
3.10 GRI Content 100
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CGAP Social Performance Taskforce

Indicators Page

1. Mission Specifics 7
2. Governance 53
3. Range of products and service (Financial and Non-Financial) 17
4. Client outreach by lending methodologies 25
5. Measuring client retention 29
6. Social responsibility to clients 51
7. Transparency of the costs and staff incentives 91
8. Human resource and staff incentives 47
9. Employment creation and enterprises financed 16
10. Social responsibility to the environment 43
11. Poverty outreach 16
12. Consumer protection 10
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